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DAY 2 – 3 NOVEMBER 2015 

 

  [10.00 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Good morning, everyone.  So, Mr Mora, would you like 5 

to come forward and we will hear from the Community Board first.   

 

MR MORA:   And also Ms Broughton. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, Ms Broughton, good morning to you. 10 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   Good morning. 

 

MR MORA:   Is here okay, sir? 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, just by that microphone, the main thing is we can 

hear you and that what you say goes on the transcript. 

 

MR NEILL:   Mr Chair, for the record, now Ms Broughton has joined the team, 

Ms Broughton and I have previously been on working committees 20 

together and particularly with the Independent Citizens and I wish to 

record that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Neill.  All right, you have the floor. 

 25 
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MR MORA:   Thank you, sir, I won’t dwell on the intro other than to say that I 

am the chair of the Riccarton-Wigram Community Board and my 

deputy, Ms Broughton, and the board has a statutory role under 

section 52 to represent and act and advocate for the interests of its 

community and that is the capacity that we are here today, sir. 5 

 

 Our first issue is the staging of subdivisions, rule 8.2.2.4. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We might just bring that up as you talk, just a minute.  

Just pause for a minute, we are finding it a little bit difficult finding our 10 

way through this - - - 

 

MR MORA:   I know the feeling. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so 8.2.2.4, you are referring to the non-15 

complying activity list, is that right? 

 

MR MORA:   Sir, we are referring to that rule, that we generally support that 

rule but there are some issues with that rule, is that when you have an 

outline development plan submitted for a residential subdivision and 20 

there is more than one developer involved in that, and one developer 

might go for variation after variation after variation to their original 

consent which ends up with other existing developers being shut out 

and blocked off from the infrastructure, sir. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I think before we go a bit further we need to find the 

right rule. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I think this is the rule number in the original notified plan 

which is of course what the Board submitted on. 30 

 

MR MORA:   Yes, it is. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And the one in front of us is completely restructured. 

 35 

MR MORA:   I apologise for that. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, don’t apologise.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I wonder, Mr Laing, is Mr Long able to help us with what 40 

the current rule number may be? 

 

MR LAING:   I will just go and confer with him. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is important for us to actually be on the same page 45 

together otherwise - - - 
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MR MORA:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   8.2.1.4. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   8.2.1.4, okay. 

 

MR NEILL:   Page? 

 

MR MORA:   Page 7 I think, sir. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, 8.2.1.4, staging of subdivision.  Now, that is greyed 

out, Mr Mora, which means it is a stage 1 matter which means we have 

already heard it and so you presented your submission on stage 1 so we 

are not going to hear you again on that, do you want to move to your 15 

next point? 

 

MR MORA:   Okay, yes, I do.  The next point, sir, refers to appendix 8.6.3 

subdivision development new road standards and the Board supports. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, we will just pause before we get to that to make 

sure we have got the right one. 

 

  [10.05 am] 

 25 

MR MORA:   I certainly apologise for this, I need to - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The important thing for us in process terms as you would 

understand, Mr Mora, is to hear things according to the right proposal. 

 30 

MR MORA:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, if this is greyed out we are going to be in the same 

position.  Yes, we are. 

 35 

MR MORA:   We are, okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That second point is beyond the scope of this hearing so 

do you want to move to your next point. 

 40 

MR MORA:   The next point is 14.10.1.5, Hendersons Outline Development 

Plan. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, we will just find that one. 

 45 

MR LAING:   Chapter 14, sir. 
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MR……….:   Residential. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so again it is not the subject of this hearing. 

 5 

MR MORA:   The other one, we will try this one, sir, is appendix 8.6.5, pages 

90 and 91, Buchanans Road Outline Development Plan.  It was a 

Priority Residential Greenfield Development Plan under the LURP. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, 8.6.5 is not - - - 10 

 

MR LAING:   Residential New Neighbourhood. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so you will have an opportunity to be heard on that 

when that hearing is scheduled in the New Year. 15 

 

MR MORA:   Okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 20 

MR MORA:   Thank you very much and I apologise for - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, need to apologise, Mr Mora, it is perfectly 

understandable that people don’t always fully understand the staged 

nature of his inquiry, so we will see you in due course. 25 

 

MR MORA:   Thank you very much. 

 

<MIKE MORA WITHDREW [10.07 am] 

<HELEN BROUGHTON WITHDREW [10.07 am] 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. Now, the next one.  Ms Hargreaves, is she here? 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   She doesn’t seem to have arrived yet. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Do we have Mr Robertson? 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And you are presenting with Ms Hargreaves. 40 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   That is right, either that or I have got a second 

submission; I could run through the second submission if that is 

relevant. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, we will do that I think and then we will see how we 

go from there.  So that is 2566.  Perhaps the Secretariat could inquire, 

thank you.   

 

 Now, Mr Robertson, if you could do the same things Mr Mora did, just 5 

come forward to that microphone so that what you say gets recorded 

and we can hear you more clearly. 

 

 Now, just as you settle your papers down there, you are one of a 

number of submitters that raises issues to do with the Styx area. 10 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just so that you know, so the Panel has got no power to, 

for instance, order the Council to undertake works or to order the 15 

Council to pay money towards anything, that sort of thing is beyond the 

powers this Panel can exercise. 

 

 What this Panel is charged with doing is looking at the provisions of 

these proposals for the new plan that have come through and certainly 20 

can hear people’s issues on that provided they are within the scope of 

the particular hearing we are having at any time.  So just that you bear 

that in mind as we go through things. 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Okay. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We can look at plan provisions that might relate to what 

you have got to say but we can’t actually make the Council undertake 

works as such. 

 30 

MR ROBERTSON:   Yes, I realise, it is just putting the proposal in. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all right. 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   I have got copies of the submission and a paper. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, what have you got there? 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   A plan of the area just to give an outline. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And where is that from? 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   It is actually a City Council plan. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, have you copies? 45 
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MR ROBERTSON:   Unfortunately, no, I have only got that one. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, so we are going to have a bit of trouble I think 

trying to find our way through that.  I think just speak to your 

submission, those plans won’t really assist us and anyway you need 5 

copies for Mr Laing as well as to do that sort of thing. 

 

  [10.10 am] 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Oh, okay. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So just see how you go just presenting your submission 

without reference to that.  What we will do is have the Secretariat try to 

put something up on the screen for the locality, so do you want to give 

us a locality reference? 15 

 

 Well, what I might get you to do is those plans you have got, I am sure 

Mr Laing wouldn’t mind if you just handed those to Mr Langman (ph 

0.35) over there and he will look at those plans and compare them with 

what he has got and see if he can put something up on the screen.  20 

Something has gone up there already now, does that help orientate you? 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Right. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just when you are ready. 25 
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MR ROBERTSON:   I am Barry Robertson, I have got a property in Lower 

Styx Road and initially when I bought the property the Styx River was 

very low and over the recent years with the subdivisions it has been 

going higher and higher, with every progressive subdivision it keeps 

progressively going higher.   5 

 

 And in the mid 90s it was giving a lot of complaints to the Council with 

the introduction of the Northwood subdivision and progressively after 

that every subdivision has made it worse and worse, and actually if 

Penny was here we would have the photos showing the flooding across 10 

the road and, you know, general flooding across a lot of situations. 

 

 And my idea is to mitigate this problem, is the Council don’t seem to 

put, I mean the Council have got millions and millions of dollars’ 

worth of subdivision contributions but have seemed to use them for 15 

rather than using on the river they have used them for other situations.   

 

 So my idea is to put a specific fee on the subdivisions which is bonded 

to the river or the catchment and the river that it flows into rather than 

having a general pool and it getting used by one Council to do 20 

something and something to do something else.  Where on that 

subdivision they should be paying for the upgrade of that river to 

handle the increased flow of the subdivisions.  

 

 And if you look under the situation of electrical or telecommunications 25 

or sewer, if there is not the capacity in the river the subdivider has to 

pay but in the respect of stormwater it seems to be open slather, as soon 

as it hits the river no one cares what happens.  With the platform on the 

subdivision being one in 200 years and it is said to be a one in 50 year 

storage in the subdivisions but I think we have proof that it is only one 30 

in eight.  The latest one at Prestons was full to the top and not one 

house there on a one in eight flood so obviously they are failing in that 

situation 

 

  [10.15 am] 35 

 

 So I have proposed a levy on every section and this could be done like 

in the Heathcote Basin as well, because anywhere there is new 

subdivisions going on and anywhere there is a new risk coming to the 

people downstream the subdivider should be paying.  So I was 40 

proposing something like, you know, $100 levy which is like 

0.25 percent, which is a very minor amount, with estimated 15,000 

development going into the Styx which is a little bit hard to estimate 

because the Council doesn’t seem to want to give us any information 

on that but from that I am going off what they have given to the 45 

newspapers because they seem to be quite keen to give that to them. 
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 So if you go on that situation that will give you 7.5 million on that 

which I think that is pretty mild I would have thought for the cost.  So 

the cost to dig out a lake there is approximately 1.2 million for the dig 

out and I would say associated piping to pipe it in would be 100,000 5 

and maybe some flood control measures in the way of gates and swales 

or electronic control for flood mitigation probably another 100,000 and 

maybe the rest 100,000 in planting, which would sort of leave you 

about 6 million for purchase of land which I think that any farmer 

down the area would be quite interested in this as long as – they would 10 

be very interested especially if they were to retain some of the soil to 

keep side of their lower lying land out of being put into floodplain area, 

and I think some of them are quite useful. 

 

 So this could be done at no cost to the Council and it is only asking for 15 

what is in the stormwater plan anyway.  So with no cost to the Council 

and only what the developers are supposed to put into their stormwater 

plan I think with some enforcement on this it could be very 

advantageous I think for, you know, it could be used for rowing 

competitions.  As Christchurch we spend a lot of money out of 20 

Christchurch going down south to the lakes, millions of dollars a year 

is spent out of Christchurch because we have no facilities here. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   There used to be facilities before the earthquake, didn’t 

there? 25 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Not - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Wainoni, around about there, along the stretch there. 

 30 

MR ROBERTSON:   On the Avon?  No, not really, they haven’t got the width.  

They have got a very bad weed problem.  I am avid kayaker, I used to 

race down there all the time and, yes, I know with the rowing there is a 

lot of problems there, they can’t contain the weed and I mean it is very, 

very polluted.  If someone fell out in there they used to often, people 35 

used to sick the next day so no one really wants to go in there.  I mean I 

can’t see how they are going to clean that river up.   

 

 Plus with the Avon it is a different situation because they are not 

mitigating any floodwater control because actually the Avon with the 40 

red zoning, the level of stormwater should have gone down because 

there has been no new development in the city and there won’t be 

because it is all tar sealed and drained already all the city so even new 

development in the city, it will be putting on the same site so it 

shouldn’t produce any more stormwater and with the red zoning 45 

downstream of the Avon it doesn’t really make sense why all the 
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money is spent on the Avon when there is no increase in stormwater, 

there is actually a decrease. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, anything else on that, or I will just check if there 

are questions? 5 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Not really, no, just to make sure that, you know, if the 

Council are going to go through this it is actually bonded rather than 

just making another money pool from the use of something else 

because that seems to be what has happened.  All our money from the 10 

Styx development seems to have gone down to stopbank the Avon and 

Heathcote which I don’t think is very fair. 

 

  [10.20 am] 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just one question from me and I will hand over to the 

Panel members, have you – a lot of what you describe refers to an idea 

that you have for what would have to be Council works, and there is a 

program of looking at Council finances over a program period of time 

and developing a long term community plan around that, have you been 20 

a participant in those processes? 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   I don’t think I need to be because this is self-funding, it is 

not using Council funding as now, it is a new program with its own 

funding to be self-sufficient. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay.  All right, well I will just check with my other 

Panel members if there are any questions. 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Yes. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   You have asked my question, your Honour. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, thank you.  Yes, Mr Neill. 

 

MR NEILL:   Just to add to the Chair’s suggestion, you have had discussions 

with your community board of your proposals? 

 40 

MR ROBERTSON:   It has been put forward in some meetings we have had, 

where community board members had been present, but no I haven’t 

had direct consultation with the community board, no. 

 

MR NEILL:   Because whilst your submission creates some issues for us, as 45 

has to scope, we appreciate the problem you are having and I would 
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strongly recommend that you do and that they in turn should in fact 

engage the Council, councillors and the Council staff that hopefully 

will listen to you. 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Yes, we have engaged the Council on a lot of our 5 

problems and it doesn’t seem to react very good. 

 

MR NEILL:    I cannot address that I am sorry. 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Yes. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   I have no questions, thank you, Mr Robertson. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well thank you very much, Mr Robertson, and thank 

you also for coming forward in the program, it helps us as well. 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Yes, it is just a possible solution, not just for the Styx 

Basin, may be for the Heathcote and other places which have upcoming 20 

development, you know, that is a program that could be of no cost to 

the Council, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  Well I understand Ms Hargreaves, no one has been 

able to get a hold of her to date, so we will just see how that goes and 25 

perhaps if - - -  

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Yes, bit of a worry. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You were going to co-present with Ms Hargreaves so you 30 

might want to hang around for a bit longer. 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Yes, it is unfortunate, she had a lot of the photos and a lot 

of my evidence, but, yes, I might camp up there. 

 35 

<BARRY ROBERTSON WITHDREW [10.22 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So we may bring her in a bit later on this morning, 

depending on how others go, make a little bit of flexibility for that. 

 40 

 Mr Suggate, is – oh, Ms Hargreaves you just - - -  

 

MRS HARGREAVES:   I am sorry, I am just - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No that is fine, you just - - -  45 
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MRS HARGREAVES:   - - - 10.40. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, absolutely fine.  Why do you not just – I will see if 

Mr Suggate wants to go ahead of you for the Diamond Harbour Group 

- - -  5 

 

MRS HARGREAVES:   Happy to. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - so that you can settle yourself into things and talk to 

Mr Robertson, but Mr Robertson’s going to vacate that seat and go 10 

down the back so Mr – Mr Suggate, are you ready to present your 

submission? 

 

MR SUGGATE:   Yes. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, that is great, thank you for that that is helpful to 

us too. 

 

 Yes, have you got a PowerPoint? 

 20 

MR SUGGATE:   Yes, I have. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You got that ready to go with – oh yes, it is already on the 

screen, thank you – so Panel members have had a chance to have a look 

through the PowerPoint quickly and read through your submission, and 25 

now is your opportunity to just speak to the main points of it for us. 

 

MR SUGGATE:   Shall I just wave my finger if I want to move to the next 

slide? 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Absolutely, whatever communication system works with 

the Secretariat that is fine by me. 

 

MR SUGGATE:   I will hold my hand up. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. 

 

MR SUGGATE:   Sorry, just waiting for the first slide. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that is fine. 40 
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MR SUGGATE:   Right, thank you.  Just to introduce the Community 

Association and why we have an interest, we are an association that has 

been around since 1931, full embedded in the community, providing a 

range of services to our fellow community members, which I have 

outline there, we have an annual public meeting, we are elected, the 5 

committees elected, I am the Chairperson and my day job is a 

Department of Conservation manager where I have worked for the last 

25 years. 

 

 So the essence of our submission is that, it is based around one 10 

component at Stage 2, where we supported the objectives, 811 and 

policy 8111 - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Might just hold that slide, I will just get that up – yes, we 

are having – we having to keep a watch on things that are deferred and 15 

so forth and so, and it looks like there might be – in any event you are 

just wanting to express support for that, the - - -  

 

  [10.25 am] 

 20 

MR SUGGATE:   Yes, but it is - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - but those are - - -  

 

MR SUGGATE:   - - - it is supporting those general principles that are outline 25 

there to - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MR SUGGATE:   - - - protect natural features and landscapes and natural 30 

character coast - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR SUGGATE:   - - - it is through subdivision, or is part of subdivision. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  Now the substance of those provisions have not 

been dealt with for this particular hearing, but with that background, if 

you could speak to the balance of your submission? 

 40 

MR SUGGATE:   Right.  Okay, so our concern is that the previous plan 

provisions and consent processes, for subdivision have failed to do that 

adequately.  And that the community’s position is that we do not 

support rural lifestyle subdivision or residential subdivision on the 

margins of the Diamond Harbour southern bay area, in those areas of 45 
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valued landscapes which comprise of very much most of the, what is 

visible from the actual community itself. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, Mr Suggate, just on that, when you say “they”, and 

I possibly should have asked you at the beginning, is the Diamond 5 

Harbour Community Association incorporated? 

 

MR SUGGATE:   It is registered?  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Are they - - -  10 

 

MR SUGGATE:   It is a trust. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, do you know how many financial members it has? 

 15 

MR SUGGATE:   We have over a 100 financial members. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And is membership automatic upon purchase of a 

property within a particular area or how does it work? 

 20 

MR SUGGATE:   No.  It is based upon, we mail out every year along with a 

newspaper subscription, a request for subscription for membership to 

the Community Association and out of a community of about 3,000 

people - - -  

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR SUGGATE:   - - - that we get that number of people who are prepared to 

actually pay a membership to the association. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, thank you. 

 

MR SUGGATE:   Next slide – so I am just going to illustrate just very quickly 

just some of the features of the area we are talking about, so the 

southern bays and the main ridges coming down from Mount Herbert 35 

have been deemed to be outstanding natural landscapes, and then you 

got the coastal environment around the bays. 

 

 And then looking on the eastern side, whereas a point of focus where I 

am going to come to about the recent subdivision there, you can see it 40 

is relatively under developed, apart from, if you look very closely, there 

are some house sites going in. 

 

 Moving across to easterly direction to the next slide, you get the main 

Diamond Harbour township, up there where I put an arrow there is a 45 

very prominent house of poorly designed or located, which is just on 
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the edge of the outstanding natural landscape, it has been there for 

about 20 years, but of a case in kind. 

 

 Moving along to the next one, above Lyttelton there; the bottom area of 

the green grassy area is zone residential, owned by the Banks Peninsula 5 

District Council, available for residential development, and the top end 

of that is what is called Bayview Road and above that, you get into 

outstanding natural landscape and that is where there has been a recent 

subdivision of lifestyle blocks. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So when you say – you mentioned it a couple of times – 

that “it is an outstanding natural landscape”, what is your reference 

point for that, is it - - -  

 

MR SUGGATE:   That is the plan under the - - -  15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Under the zone - - -  

 

MR SUGGATE:   - - - existing or overlying description of it. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Under the existing plan? 

 

MR SUGGATE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you. 25 

 

MR SUGGATE:   And in the propose plan too. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Oh, yes, thank you, right. 

 30 

MR SUGGATE:   And the next slide, just moving to the right there, there is 

one block of residential subdivision just above Bayview Road, that is 

above Church Bay, but I want to talk about Bayview Road, that is a 

dividing point between what is zone residential and what is rural 

zoning at present. 35 

 

 So moving onto the Purau subdivision which was approved in 2009, 

that is the broad plan of what was subdivided and just moving then into 

the detail, the next slide.  Our concerns about that, it was a non-notified 

consent, we would much prefer that some of these major consents 40 

around the community were notified so there is an opportunity for 

input. 

 

 It was determined to be discretionary, though the consent discussion 

talks about some elements were non-complying but deemed to be not 45 

significant. 
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 Seven lots of 40 hectares and five of those were created by having a 

share title over a larger allotment, so actually to do the plan provisions 

they were able to, rather than having just the larger allotment being tied 

to just one of those, it was able to be tied to a number of them. 5 

 

 And the actual consent decision said that one of the features of the 

subject land is the total absence of buildings, and then they concluded 

that the proposed subdivision will not impact adversely on the 

landscape qualities of the wider basin.   10 

 

 Now I will quickly just go through some slides showing what has 

happened subsequently. 

 

  [10.30 am] 15 

 

 That is a view from up on Mount Herbert and you can see in the sort of 

far distance the bit of coast we are referring to, heading on towards on 

the eastern side of Purau there where they are starting to put in the 

house sites and then to Ripapa headland and then – just the next slide – 20 

looking at that from Lyttelton again, you can just start to make out 

where they are starting to put the house sites in, that was taken 

September 2015. 

 

 Next slide, now that is the existing residential development in Purau 25 

taken from Diamond Harbour.  Then if you move around you can start 

to see the house sites that have been built on, established on those 

blocks.  Once those houses are in place they will be very distinctive in 

the landscape, completely permanently altering the view and scenic 

qualities of the area. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now was that Panel that heard that matter; did you make a 

submission to that Panel? 

 

MR SUGGATE:   I do not think it was notified so there was no opportunity to 35 

make a submission.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I see. 

 

MR SUGGATE:  In fact, I am sure it was not notified.  There was some 40 

consultation with the Purau residents which led to a change in the 

original subdivision proposal which was for some – I think about 50 

houses more concentrated towards the Purau end and then the final 

application ended up with this kind of rural lifestyle block ribbon 

development along the coastal strip from Purau towards the Ripapa 45 

headland.  Some of that is in the coastal environment too, also. 
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 Next slide – sorry, just back one there – there were two existing houses 

there, you can see in the photograph, tucked into trees.  What has 

happened now is the houses that have been, there is one new one just 

gone in on the right hand side of that photo there, that is then sort of 5 

filled up, let’s say the gap between there and Purau with these houses.  

Our concern is that in the future there will be future subdivision of 

those 40 hectare sites down into smaller blocks.   

 

 Now just moving onto the next slide, sorry, I just spoke to that one, one 10 

after, yes, that is then what we call – or I am calling –  the Ripapa 

headland which you can see the couple of existing houses above it but 

no development on it.   

 

 Next slide, please.  And then further around there are no houses there 15 

except for the one that is tucked into Shirley Bay (ph 2.44) and some 

batches in Pile Bay which are relatively absorbed into the landscape but 

we certainly do not want to see any further subdivision along there or 

housing along there. 

 20 

 Next slide, please.  So illustrating the Ripapa headland or what you call 

a (INDISTINCT 3.04) from Diamond Harbour and then next slide, 

that is just from the Camp Bay Road so we are really concerned that 

that is not considered a significant feature under the costal significant 

natural feature provisions and that may be developed. 25 

 

 Now I will just go onto the next example, just the subdivision above 

Bayview Road that was consented in 2014, there were four titles 

created from 5.9 to 8.5 hectares in an area that was zoned Outstanding 

Natural Landscape and non-notify consent, I have not read that consent 30 

decision so I cannot comment on why that particular decision was 

made. 

 

 Next slide, please.  And that is the view down from Mount Herbert 

onto that and those lower green slopes are the area that has been 35 

subdivided and that is a close up from just Bayview Road looking 

across and there is a house site actually being built just in the distance, 

just below that distance ridge. 

 

 Next slide.  Just the last subdivision I would like to comment on is the 40 

Black Point subdivision of 2009 which led to allotments being placed 

along that coastal frontage and first houses now just going in at the 

moment. 

 

 Next slide.  And the actual other components of the subdivision were 45 

poorly designed.  There was no reserve set aside on the beach, it is a 
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very unique beach and the access to it is extremely poor.  There is no 

disabled access to that, you have to actually go down a series of steps 

for the public to get to that.   

 

 And my last slide just comment on the District Plan provisions to date 5 

and my reading of them. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well you do not need to talk to us about how people 

behaved in mediation because it is confidential for the parties apart 

from what came out by way of agreement and we are not interested in 10 

anything to do with that.  So on the other points though. 

 

  [10.35 am] 

 

MR SUGGATE:   The third point then, the Diamond Harbour Community does 15 

not support further rural lifestyle developments surrounding existing 

urban area because what we consider the high landscape values and the 

drawbacks of what has been already agreed to in the past.  I would 

prefer a harder urban boundary and there is plenty of residential 

development within already zoned residential area and when 20 

subdivision consents affect the wider community we believe they 

should be notified.   

 

 Overall, we consider that any changes to the subdivision provisions 

through this hearing process and to the extent that they make it actually 25 

harder for subdivisions, they make it a better requirement for public 

input we support and to the extent that I have read the papers that have 

been sent to me, I will comment that in relation to the reports put 

forward in the Jane Hogan evidence, the 8223D6, they are removing 

the option there of four hectare title is a step in the sort of direction that 30 

we would see. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay, well it is helpful to know that and so some of 

the matters that you have traversed, will be traversed in a substantive 

way, the Natural and Cultural Heritage dimensions, at a later time 35 

including matters to do with the treatment of these areas in terms of 

outstanding natural landscape, those sorts of matters will be fully 

traversed then. 

 

 I will just check with other Panel members about questions arising 40 

from what you have said.  Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   Just one.  Thank you, it is nice to see some pictures.  Look, you 

have obviously seen Ms Hogan’s evidence. 

 45 
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 Yesterday she made the point that one of the changes, one of the only 

changes really from the Operative Plan to the proposal now is in 

relation to the lot size between four and 40 hectares which I think if my 

memory serves me correctly is now being a discretionary activity under 

the proposal and so was asked about the objectives and policies that 5 

would guide decision making on those sorts of applications and I just 

wondered whether you had an opportunity to look at those objectives 

and policies and whether you have any view about whether they will 

achieve the outcomes that you are after? 

 10 

MR SUGGATE:   I will only just note that I have read the legal submission 

from the Crown.  I noted comment that there was an insertion of 

requirements to take into account the natural character and landscape 

and the like and I obviously support the fact that those criteria are 

added.  The objectives and policies – I have not looked at those in 15 

enough detail to comment but I think you will understand exactly 

where our position is coming from.  That we do not want further 

building and so if there will be anything that is more permissive for 

building around our community we do not support, it is as simple as 

that.  So the harder it is the better. 20 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, I appreciate the point, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Suggate, and thank you also for showing us 

through the slides, and I reiterate Mr Willis’ comments, it is really good 

to see the photos and understand really what you are talking about in 

terms of having that displayed to us – thank you very much for that. 

 30 

 Is the Community Association going to also be attending the Rural 

Hearing and the Natural and Cultural Heritage Hearings which are 

coming up later, do you know? 

 

MR SUGGATE:   We have made a decision not to appear at the Rural Hearing, 35 

I am limited in time available, I am doing this on a voluntary basis but 

we will be attending the stage 3 matters to do with Natural Features and 

Landscape Values. 

 

MS DAWSON:   That is good.  Following on from Mr Willis again, one of the 40 

rules that I understand from Ms Hogan, has been rolled over from the 

Operative Plan into this plan, is the 40 hectare subdivision minimum 

below 160 metres, I think, and then 100 hectares above that. 

 

  [10.40 am] 45 
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MR SUGGATE:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And one of the subdivisions you showed to us, the one round 

from Purau, they were 40 hectare blocks I understand.  So has your 

community specifically asked for a change to that 40 hectare rule, to 5 

increase it in that ilk, or are you just wanting - - -  

 

MR SUGGATE:   We would welcome and support any changed that increased 

it.  But we would also be looking at the overlying zoning as well in 

terms of the coastal zoning there.  But we understand that in that 10 

particular area we are unlikely to get an outstanding natural landscape.   

 

 So there is a combination of mechanisms, it is not just the size that is 

important, it is what gives the consenting authority the ability to 

actually consent it.  It makes it more difficult if it has to be a larger 15 

area, so we would support that, but we still have, in that case, the 

blocks were 40 hectares, but they shared part of a much larger title 

which they then covenanted, which enabled them to use that 

particularly provision in the plan.   

 20 

 But if they had actually had to have – yes, and that is why the actual – I 

haven’t had time, I just really have not had time to fully understand the 

mechanisms by which you can have 40 hectares and then you covenant 

it, and I understand that the Board is actually going to make some 

submission on that matter. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   Right. 

 

MR SUGGATE:   To be honest. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   And we also understand from Ms Hogan that at the moment 

the way the plan is written, the fact that there is an overlay – whether it 

is a coastal overlay or an outstanding landscape overlay – doesn’t 

necessarily bring any tighter controls over subdivision.  Of course, we 

will be hearing submissions on that sort of point in Stage 3, so we will 35 

welcome comments on those sorts of aspects then. 

 

MR SUGGATE:   Right.  Okay. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  Thank you very much, thank you.   40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  Thank you very much, and I don’t have any further 

questions.  I think all of the matters have been well covered, and we 

look forward to seeing you again when we come to look at the natural 

and cultural heritage matters.   45 

 



 Page 152 

  

Ch8: Subdivision, Development and Earthworks (Part) Commenced 02.11.15 

MR SUGGATE:   Yes, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right.  Thank you very much.   

 

<RICHARD SUGGATE WITHDREW [10.42 am] 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Now Ms Hargreaves, just if you could come 

forward and - - -  

 

MS HARGREAVES:   I am sorry we have not been able to do a PowerPoint, 10 

we are just a group of rather quake affected people who are now coping 

with serious flood issues and we don’t have the capacity to - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now what have you got there, Ms Hargreaves? 

 15 

MS HARGREAVES:   Now what I have got here is - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just pause a minute.   

 

MS HARGREAVES:   Sorry. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If you go back to where you are and just explain from 

back there what it is and then we will go from there.   

 

MS HARGREAVES:   Well what we have actually – a lot of things have 25 

happened since we put the submission - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  If you go back and sit down over there.  Just go 

back to where you were.   

 30 

MS HARGREAVES:   Sorry, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, it is all right.  There just needs to be proper decorum 

in the room.  Mr Robertson, did you want to sit alongside 

Ms Hargreaves? 35 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   What has actually happened, when we originally put 

the submission in, things have happened a lot since then. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, but before you launch into that, so the opportunity 40 

now is to speak to the submission you have lodged.   

 

MS HARGREAVES:   Yes, I see.  Yes.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And within the scope of that submission.   45 
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MS HARGREAVES:   Okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So what you have asked for, you can speak to the relief 

you are asking for.   

 5 

MS HARGREAVES:   Right. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now just before you start, before you arrived I made a 

general comment to Mr Robertson, because I thought it was important 

for submitters in the Lower Styx area to understand the parameters of 10 

our role.   

 

 So what we are charged with doing is looking at the provisions of the 

plan and these proposals that are brought forward to us, and for 

instance we don’t have any power to direct the Council to undertake or 15 

instigate or make happen particular flood protection works – we have 

got no powers there.   

 

MS HARGREAVES:   Sorry, retention works? 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Flood protection works.  So we have got no power to deal 

with flood protection works per se in terms of making the Council 

construct them or forcing the Council to fund them in some way or 

other, other than in the scope of the provisions that are before us.  So as 

long as you understand that.   25 

 

 And what would help us is that if you were to direct your comments to 

the things that relate to the provisions before us – by all means speak to 

your submission, but those are the matters that we can address.   

 30 

MS HARGREAVES:   Can you tell me if you can address when incorrect 

evidence has actually been put before a hearing, which was the 2013 

Council Application for Recourse Consent to Discharge - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No.   35 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   We can’t – if that has been wrongly - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Issues to do with how a hearing ran in 2013 resource 

consent hearing is beyond the scope of what we can make any findings. 40 

 

  [10.45 am] 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   So when you actually find that false evidence has 

actually been presented there that has actually - - -  45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   No, we can’t make any findings on that. 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   No. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No. 5 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   So you are saying there is no avenue for us in the 

District Plan to actually try - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, I am not saying that.  I am saying speak to the District 10 

Plan. 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   Well the District Plan of what we actually spoke to 

originally was to ensure 5.25 in Chapter 5 which I have now discovered 

is, when we tried to find it on the computer the other day, has vanished 15 

and we now seem to be under policy 8.1.1.2 which is protection 

through subdivision.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No. 

 20 

MS HARGREAVES:   Policy 1.3.4 – can I give this to you so it is easier for 

you understand my inadequate way - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  Just through the secretariat.  Have you got copies for 

Mr Laing and so forth? 25 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   So, I am afraid we haven’t got those.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well we will just have a look at them and if there is 

something you wanted to deal with here on this, and it is going to take 30 

some time to copy them, I might need to stand you down.  So all right.  

So let us have a look at what we have got here.   

 

 So Ms Hargreaves, in order for us to keep the timetable of different 

people who are waiting to be heard going, it is important to try to work 35 

with Mr Ball on these sorts of matters, to have copies of things done 

ahead of time. 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   Yes, I am aware of that.   

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Because at the moment this paper that you have given me 

here, the decision of the Commissioners of 26 June 2013, as I said 

before, we have got no power to revisit that.   

 

MS HARGREAVES:   Right. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And then this other document is Penny Hargreaves 

Presents Evidence on Behalf of Other Submitters, which identifies the 

Council, for many years has failed to comply with their duty of care 

and ignored the proposed District Plan Chapter 5 - - -  

 5 

MS HARGREAVES:   That was what we presented on, was the 5.25 which - - 

-  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry, I haven’t asked you a question yet, so if you could 

just hold on. 10 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   Sorry. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So if this document relates to the submission on the 

chapter we are dealing with today, then are you asking us to arrange for 15 

copies of this through the secretariat so that you can present to it? 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   I guess so. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Because that is what is going to have to happen, in which 20 

case I am going to have to stand you down until that is done, and other 

people are going to come through and we will have to fit you in later in 

the day.   

 

MS HARGREAVES:   What I – Richard Ball, I had actually understood 25 

yesterday that if we had actually taken these into the Council Services 

that they could copy it, but when I took it to Council Services they said 

they couldn’t.  So it has got quite - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  So you would like to present to this paper, and 30 

are you saying to me it relates to the things you are asking for for this 

chapter, does it? 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   Well the evidence - - -  

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Does it? 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   Yes.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It does?  Okay.  In which case I am going to stand you 40 

down. 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   The copies we have got here do, yes.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  Now are there any other documents you wanted 45 

copied? 
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MS HARGREAVES:   Yes.  These documents here.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Well what I am going to ask you do - - -  

 5 

MS HARGREAVES:   How many do we require?  Because Barry has - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  So all of those procedures – I appreciate it is 

hard to find these things sometimes online, but they are all there.  In 

essence we need everyone to have copies that needs them – that 10 

includes the Council.  So if you want these papers presented I am going 

to probably, I think the right call would be for me to arrange through 

the secretary for you and Mr Ball to have a bit of a chat, for those 

copies to be run through our copier here, for those copies – and I am 

afraid you will have to wait until that is all done, and once that is done, 15 

copies to be provided to Mr Laing, then we can decide.  But bear in 

mind there is an allocated time for your submissions. 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   I understand that.   

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And we could spend all of the time talking about papers in 

which case that is effectively it. 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   Yes. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So each submitter has about 10 to 15 minutes to speak to 

their submission.  We have already spent about 10 minutes speaking 

about how to manage your submission.  So if you would like these 

paper as part of your presentation then I will stand you down.  Is that 

what you would like? 30 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   Yes, that is what I would like.  Actually, when I spoke 

to Richard - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Then we will do that. 35 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   - - - this morning I had asked if we could copy them 

here first thing this morning.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Okay.  So we will work out a time later in the 40 

morning, but it won’t be too far away, and we will have other people 

come through before you.  Now we don’t want a copy of that one.  All 

right.   

 

 Now Mr Ball; could the secretariat sort of arrange now for Mr Ball to 45 

meet with Ms Hargreaves down the back of the room and then we can 
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arrange it from there?  All right?  Mr Ball will handle it from there.  All 

right, we will see you later on Ms Hargreaves. 

 

  [10.50 am] 

 5 

 Now, so Ms Snook, I think you are next.  Now, I just need to find your 

submission, 2533.   

 

MS SNOOK:   Sir, this is the revamped submission because at the pre-hearing 

basically Council told us that a lot of the issues were not relevant for 10 

this Chapter. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, it is a challenge for us all and I particularly feel for 

the lay submitter that is had to manage all of this, but it is in fact the 

only way it can be done in an ordered way.   15 

 

MS SNOOK:   Did they manage to copy it this morning, because I only sent it 

this morning. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I got it this morning. 20 

 

MS SNOOK:   You got it this morning, that is fine, I didn’t know if you would. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, I think we will just wait for the secretariat to settle 

our papers down and then you can get underway. 25 

 

MS SNOOK:   And that is my mihi, I’m not very good at Māori, that is my 

connection with the Ngai Tahu within the South Island. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So where is the connection?  This is a mihi, is it? 30 

 

MS SNOOK:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 35 

MS SNOOK:   But I can’t read it out, I am not confident enough. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I would be interested to see what your connections are. 

 

MS SNOOK:   It is the iwi in the lower part of the South Island. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The lower part? 

 

MS SNOOK:   Yes. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Let’s see if I can recognise any of these names.  So is it 

Karitane, Otago? 

 

MS SNOOK:   Yes. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, okay, proceed. 
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<KATHRYN SNOOK [10.52 am] 
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MS SNOOK:   So basically my name is Kathryn Snook, I am representing 

myself, Daryl Snook, and our two neighbours, Kerry and Antonio 

Rodriguez.  We are residents in the Brooklands, we reside at 900A 

Lower Styx Road and the Rodriguez’s at 5 Earlham Street.  So I am 

basically accepting the invitation from the Council to submit on the 5 

way Christchurch looks and operates in the future and after all what 

they quoted about my land, my neighbourhood, my city and my wider 

district. 

 

 I am here to voice the concerns about the assumption that the lower 10 

reaches of the Styx River, within the Styx stormwater management, 

plan can cope with the effects of the additional stormwater caused by 

the subdivisions upstream associated with this proposed Christchurch 

Replacement District Plan.   

 15 

 So basically in 2010 and 2011 earthquakes, they have severely affected 

the land in the Spencerville/Brooklands and is causing the land to drop 

and the ground water levels to rise.  So as a result of the earthquake, 

most of Brooklands has been rezoned. 

 20 

 In June 2013 the City Council – this was the permit that Penny was 

referring to - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is Ms Hargreaves for the record. 

 25 

MS SNOOK:   Hargreaves, yes, sorry – has been given a permit for 35 years to 

discharge the contaminants, being stormwater, onto the land and into 

the water associated with the Styx area of Christchurch.  Basically the 

models predicted that the area could cope with a one in 50 storm event 

and what we are trying to say is basically already in June 2013 30 

apparently the NIWA said that it was a one in eight storm event, the 

river broke its banks and caused water to flow onto residential 

properties.   

 

 So what I am saying is that the Styx – your plan will be referring to the 35 

Styx plan as being able to cope with your subdivisions, and I am saying 

look at what is happening already, and you can see – the first image 

there after 4, that is the river coming onto a resident’s property and then 

onto the side of the road, this is into his property.  The one at the 

bottom of page 3 is our property, the water has come across the road 40 

and filled up in front of our property.  Earlham Street is what is 

adjacent to my road, this is on page 4 - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   This is the one with the canoe? 

 45 
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MS SNOOK:   Canoe, yes, you can see how high the water is.  The one at the 

bottom is one of my out buildings, how much water was in it.   

 

 So basically the City Council has indicated that there are no plans to 

mitigate the earthquake damage or address the flooding in this area.  So 5 

I know you can’t make them do it, but what I am saying is they are 

saying they are not going to do anything, they are not going to mitigate 

the earthquake effects, and they are not going to – they have got no 

flooding plans in that area, if you go ahead with these subdivisions then 

we are basically in trouble and I am basically taking the opportunity to 10 

say, well, you know, I don’t think your district plan can go on any 

further until this, as far as we are concerned, gets sorted. 

 

  [10.55 am] 

 15 

 So in addition to the introduction of the new district plan, the 

Brooklands area where we live has been designated ponding, so this is 

all part of your district plan, I know that is being discussed in the next 

section under Hazards, but we have now been told ponding, but we are 

a residential size block, we are under 4,000 square metres and we do 20 

not have any capacity to cope with any of this additional stormwater, so 

it is all very well your plan saying “right, we will just make you 

ponding”, but we are a residential small block in this area.   

 

 I am also unsure if my property, Helen Beaumont was in our – when 25 

we went to see a pre-hearing with Commissioner Mills, Helen 

Beaumont was meant to get back to me to say whether my property 

was actually in the Styx stormwater management plan; very hard to 

read the diagrams, I have got a copy here. 

 30 

 Certainly Earlham Street is definitely not in this plan, and so what I am 

saying is that if we’re not even in the plan, so are we just going to end 

up with all this water that you are assuming is going to be controlled 

under this Styx SMP, but which I am saying is basically, I don’t think it 

is, so really I don’t think the subdivisions can go ahead until it gets 35 

sorted. 

 

 Also of concern also certainly is the landfill in our neighbouring areas, 

so there is pictures there, we have got rural properties putting landfill, 

we have also got CERA in the red zone, which is the Brooklands red 40 

zone, they are doing fill and that is worsening our hazards. 

 

 So I mean I am aware that the Chapter 8 policy in your Christchurch 

Replacement District Plan should address these issues, but basically 

they will not offer our area any protection if they continue to rely on 45 
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this Styx stormwater management plan, which is struggling to cope 

with the existing stormwater.   

 

 So basically I am saying, I do not think your bit can go ahead until the 

other bit is sorted.   5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well, look, I will just test with my Panel 

Members on questions on that, and I have just got one at the moment, it 

may be answered by others, but I will just – Mr Willis? 

 10 

MR WILLIS:  No. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   No, just thank you for your submission and for the photos that 15 

accompany it.  It is very helpful, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:  Thank you very much.  Have you – I know it is confusing to 20 

find your way through everything in these documents, but have you had 

a look at the stormwater parts of the Subdivision Chapter we are 

looking at today to see if the Styx stormwater management plan is 

specifically referred to at all? 

 25 

MS SNOOK:   No, I can’t tell you.  I am sure it will be.  I am sure they talk 

about the Styx SMP. 

 

MS DAWSON:  Styx SMP, so you are alerting to us, if that is referred to and it 

is relied on to deal with more subdivision upstream, you are saying it is 30 

not working as well as it should? 

 

MS SNOOK:   Definitely.  You see, when they got that permit it was based on 

models and so models only go so far, and so what we are saying is that 

their models are not right and so if your plan continues to do 35 

subdivisions then we are in trouble because their models – it is not 

going to work basically.   

 

MS DAWSON:  I know we are not here going over what happened last time, 

but in theory the models should take into account the future planned 40 

subdivision in that area. 

 

MS SNOOK:   That is right it was meant to. 

 

MS DAWSON:  It was meant to? 45 
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MS SNOOK:   Yes, it was. 

 

MS DAWSON:  Yes, and your message is, it is not? 

 

MS SNOOK:   It is not. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:  Yes, thank you.  Thank you very much. 

 

MS SNOOK:   So thank you for the opportunity of alerting that there are 

people still in Brooklands and, you know, if this plan goes ahead with 10 

subdivisions, you are not meant to inundate the existing people, there is 

all the requirements there about affecting existing people and it is got to 

be taken seriously, not just written on a piece of paper. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, just picking up on Ms Dawson’s question there, 15 

again I haven’t been able to find it quickly, looking through it, where it 

is referenced in the plan - - - 

 

MS SNOOK:   It may just be SMP. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay.  Is that on screen there?  Okay.  Yes, and in 

our Stage 1 hearing, which we have had already on Subdivision and we 

looked at this question of the relationship of the rules to these 

documents, these management plan documents, which are effectively 

documents prepared by the operational stormwater management arm of 25 

the Council or water and those sorts of things, and they certainly have a 

relevance to the rules in the ways that you have just described.   

 

  [11.00 am] 

 30 

 My question around them was, as operational documents that are 

referenced in the plan, to what extent have you had a chance to talk to 

operation people at the Council on these issues?  Have you had any 

conversation with relevant managers in terms of flood management 

issues? 35 

 

MS SNOOK:   Yes, they have said there is nothing happening.  Yes, we have 

asked - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. 40 

 

MS SNOOK:   - - - and we have shown and we have – yes.  This is Graham 

Harrington. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Graham Harrington - - - 45 
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MS SNOOK:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   yes, who - - - 

 

MS SNOOK:   He has been to my place, he - - - 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS SNOOK:   - - - knows our issues, knows our concerns, and is quite 

adamant that we will be okay.  Because the models say that we are 10 

going to be okay.  So if it is document now, when we have issues later 

on, I suppose I can bring it up that it was submitted here and - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 15 

MS SNOOK:   - - - and everyone was made aware of it. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So you have met with Mr Harrington? 

 

MS SNOOK:   Yes. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   On a number of occasions? 

 

MS SNOOK:   Yes.  

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I see. 

 

MS SNOOK:   Yes, and they have done levels since the last lot of flooding, 

which is shown there, and I believe they are meant to be revising the 

model perhaps.  He has not been clear as to what they were doing with 30 

the levels, but they have done levels on all of the bank, and all our 

surrounding properties.  So, I mean they’re looking at it, but if nothing 

is done, your District Plan is going to basically ruin us at the end.   

 

 I mean – and we were already existing here so I don’t know how you 35 

feel for the protection of existing people, whether that land should be – 

looking at that as well. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 40 

MS SNOOK:   We just feel as though it is being used a drain, Styx River is 

being used a drain.  We are at the end of it, we are now ponding – 

“don’t worry, you’ll be right” – but our properties cannot cope with this 

water and this excessive – and it is not just the river, there is the 

banking underneath, so when the river flows it is flowing out so far as 45 

well, all adjacent to the river. 
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 And even when it is high we’re getting extra water.  We have got the 

extra water table, and so our properties now cannot drain, and so that’s 

probably why a lot of that – even though heaps of it was not coming 

across the road, that a lot of water is because our area can now not cope 5 

with it because of the increased water underneath the land.  It is 

banking.  So it is more than just what is in the river as well. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So presumably now is not a great time to do a view of 

your site, because it is fairly dry right now, would that be right? 10 

 

MS SNOOK:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   How often in the last year have you suffered the 

problems? 15 

 

MS SNOOK:   It was the June 13, but since then it has been dry. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 20 

MS SNOOK:   We have not had any events. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Since that one occurred? 

 

MS SNOOK:   We talk of the events, but Council is to protect up to one in 50.  25 

I would love it changed to one in 100, but obviously, again, we have 

been told this is not the area for it to be addressed.  Is that right? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, we have had a hearing on hazards as well, including 

in particular in regard to flooding hazards. 30 

 

MS SNOOK:   See we did not know about the first stage of this.  We were very 

unaware.  It was passed through very quickly.  I do not even remember 

getting asked to submit, so it is - - - 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MS SNOOK:   - - - and so we have obviously missed the boat but we are doing 

the best we can to make people aware, because we certainly would 

have been here on the first one as well if we could have.  But yeah.  40 

 

 So I mean there are other councils, you know.  Christchurch is known 

as flooding.  Why are they only doing one in 50 stormwater event 

protection of your subdivisions?  I mean it should be 1 in 100 and then 

we would be a lot safer. 45 
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 And the fact that some of these detention ponds – are they being tested?  

Like you do your subdivision and it is meant to do the detention, are 

they really measuring and showing that is doing what is meant to be, 

you know?  The contaminants came into the river when they were 

doing these detention – they were not meant to.   5 

 

 You know, the monitoring is not there.  I know this again not the area 

to address, but it is all very well putting your rules in but they have got 

to do what they say.  Because they are not, and it is – yeah, anyway, I 

am not happy.  I have just got to make aware of the whole picture, 10 

really. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, thank you for doing that. 

 

MS SNOOK:   Yes.  So thank you for the opportunity. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   One more question, I think. 

 

MS DAWSON:   One more quick question.  I think you said that your area was 

red-zoned by the Crown? 20 

 

MS SNOOK:   Brooklands was.  I am adjacent to the Red Zone.  I am not red-

zoned. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But yes, that was my question.  That was the Brooklands sort 25 

of more residential area, but you are not in that.  You are outside the 

red-zoned area? 

 

MS SNOOK:   Yes, we are just over 3,000 square metres and we are adjacent 

over the road from the Red Zone.    30 

 

MS DAWSON:   So you are in what has always been theoretically a rural area, 

but you are a small block within that? 

 

MS SNOOK:   Small block. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   Very small block. 

 

MS SNOOK:   We pay residential rates.  We are not treated like rural. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   Like a rural - - - 

 

MS SNOOK:   Yes.  Only said on a piece of paper. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  That was my question.  Thank you very 45 

much. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much, Ms Snook. 

 

MS SNOOK:   Thank you. 

 5 

<KATHRYN SNOOK WITHDREW [11.05 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so do we have Ms Smith here? 

 

MS SMITH:   Yes. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, are you ready to present your submission for the 

Lyttelton-Mt Herbert Community Board?  All right.  So just come 

forward, and we will just get your submission out.   

 15 

 Ms Smith, did you hear Mr Suggate present this morning? 
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<PAULA SMITH [11.05 am] 
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MS SMITH:   I did, and I wish I had talked to him earlier because I have got 

exactly the same photos. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. 

 5 

MS SMITH:   I have only got five copies because I ran out of ink but I have 

sent email – this is just what I have got to say. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay - - - 

 10 

MS SMITH:   They are speech notes, but it will be captured in the - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - well, a copy to Mr Laing.  

 

MS SMITH:   And there is a PowerPoint as well.  15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I am sure the Crown does not mind; we are a bit short of 

paper. 

 

MR ……….:   Thank you. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, just when you are ready, Ms Smith. 

 

MS SMITH:   Firstly I would like to apologise for my alarm going off 

yesterday afternoon.  I am sorry.  And there is one change, because you 25 

reminded me that what happens in mediation is confidential.  So on 

page 2, on 6- - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 30 

MS SMITH:   - - - down, just amend that word that says “at mediation” to say 

“in a phone call following mediation”, because I rang her to confirm 

what she had said. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Was that before the mediation outcomes were signed, or 35 

after? 

 

MS SMITH:   I have no idea. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, so you telling me now - - - 40 

 

MS SMITH:   It was a day or two after. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - it was not to do with the mediation itself? 

 45 

MS SMITH:   No, no. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you. 

 

MS SMITH:   So hello again.  I spoke to the Residential Chapter but I think 

this Panel is four – three new people, is it?  Two?  I do not remember 5 

you, Mr Neill. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, there were different Panel members. 

 

MS SMITH:   Yes, okay.  So I – introduce next slide please, slide 2.  I will 10 

introduce the Lyttelton-Mt Herbert Community Board.  I am the chair 

and spokesperson for the Lyttelton-Mt Herbert Community Board, Te 

Hapori O Hinehou Raua Ko Ahu Patiki.  

 

 We are the elected representatives of the 6,500-odd people who live in 15 

Lyttelton Harbour basin and Port Levy.  Lyttelton-Mt Herbert is one of 

two community boards on Banks Peninsula.  The other, Akaroa 

Wairewa Community Board, represents all the rest of Banks Peninsula, 

which is a larger land area but with a smaller population.  Slide 3 

please. 20 

 

 In our Stage 2 submission on Subdivision, the relief we seek is an 

increase in minimum lot sizes in rural Banks Peninsula.  This is a bit of 

a blunt instrument.  What we wanted to convey is our community’s 

concern about the rate and scale of landscape change, particularly in 25 

Lyttelton Harbour basin, where the pressure is greatest. 

 

 But it is hard for laypeople to understand all the landscape implications 

of the complex interactions between activity status, lot sizes, matters of 

discretion, and all the other factors which make up the rural subdivision 30 

package proposed.  So we added that we would support provisions 

which would make it less likely that new buildings would proliferate in 

our rural and natural landscapes. 

 

 We are therefore very pleased that it now looks as if the four-hectare 35 

lot subdivision consents will be harder to get.  We welcome this 

amendment.  Slide 4. 

 

 When I last spoke to the hearings Panel, I talked about the Purau 

property subdivision in relation to what we think should not happen at 40 

the edges of our small settlements.  I do not want to repeat myself, but 

for Panel members who may not be familiar with Purau I was going to 

quickly summarise, but I won’t do that because Mr Suggate has already 

done so. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  I am probably the least familiar perhaps, but – 

actually Mr Willis might be – but I have visited Purau myself.  

 

MS SMITH:   Well, it would be really good if you would do a site visit.  I do 

not know if Mr Neill has done one, but – because I can only understand 5 

what is proposed in the context of this one which I am particularly 

familiar with, and I kind of use it as a measure of whether something 

works or not.  Anyway, next slide.   

 

  [11.10 am] 10 

 

 The effect of this subdivision consent will be to change the largely 

natural landscape character of the flanks of the spectacular Mount 

Evans range to something else.  So that is the before slide and the next 

one is the after slide so next slide, please.  How are we going? 15 

 

 So seven building platforms were approved as part of the subdivision 

consent so the house on the left has been built and the other two shown 

by arrows are under construction at the moment.  There are four more 

to come.  They are strung out along the hillside in a landscape which 20 

has absolutely no capacity to absorb them, highly visible from all 

around including the Summit Road, the gondola, everywhere. 

 

 In the last few weeks new tracks and fence lines have appeared as well.  

So in a phone call following mediation for the Subdivision Chapter, 25 

CCC planner, Ms Hogan, said that the Purau property subdivision was 

exactly the type of development the plan anticipates. 

 

 Planners may say that a dwelling density of one house per 40 hectares 

is the right density to maintain rural character but I look at the flanks of 30 

Mount Evans and I say, “really?” 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And someone else might look at them and say it is fine. 

 

MS SMITH:   Well I would say, “Really?  And you call that rural character?  I 35 

do not think so.” 

 

 Anyway, thinking about minimum lot sizes, I asked Ms Hogan where 

the numbers came from.  What is the reason we have this four, 40 and 

100 hectare thresholds, was there some kind of underlying farm 40 

reason?  She was not sure but she was confident they were appropriate 

to maintain landscape values because they came out of this big Boffa 

Miskell Banks Peninsula Landscape Study which was done for 

variation 2 which you may or may not be familiar with. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   So that was the – yes, we are broadly familiar with the 

background to that, less familiar than others but that was the 

Environment Court process that resulted in changes to the plan? 

 

MS SMITH:   Yes. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   For natural landscape recognition and that sort of thing? 

 

MS SMITH:   Yes, not the ecological sites, just landscape. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just landscapes? 

 

MS SMITH:   The ecological one was a different – what do you call them – 

different decision.   

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS SMITH:   So I asked Boffa Miskell landscape architect, Yvonne Pflüger, 

because we were talking to her about stage 3, she is doing that chapter, 

so I asked her – she worked on this project – I asked her if she could 20 

tell me where those thresholds came from.  She confirmed the 

40 hectare and 100 hectare minimum lot sizes were identified in the 

landscape study.  Her recollection was that they were chosen to be 

consistent with neighbouring District, Selwyn’s plan, the Port Hills 

sections.  To me, this seems a bit arbitrary.   25 

 

 If the 40 hectare threshold cannot be relied upon to maintain rural 

character, maybe serious consideration should be given to increasing 

the minimum lot size to 50 hectares or more.  Maybe increasing 

minimum lot size is not such a whacky idea.  Maybe someone should 30 

give consideration to whether the 40 hectare subdivision threshold is a 

good idea at all. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Have you seen the Council’s evidence on this? 

 35 

MS SMITH:   I have, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so you will see there they have got a description 

of methodology in there in terms of how - - - 

 40 

MS SMITH:   I have not been right through the section 32, is that what you are 

referring to? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It was the evidence that came in yesterday, I think, which 

gave some description of different things including a proportion of land 45 

that was above and below certain thresholds of area and so forth - - - 
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MS SMITH:   You are talking about this diagram? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - as part of the evidence, yes.  Do you have any 

comment on that? 5 

 

MS SMITH:   Yes, I do.  Anyway, so maybe some serious consideration 

should be given to whether the 40 hectare subdivision threshold is a 

good idea at all since most of them seem to be for lifestyle purposes, it 

seems like a waste of land. 10 

 

 As the Purau properties consent demonstrates so clearly, there are some 

real cumulative effects issues when you get a number of 40 hectare lots 

occurring together.  The 40 hectare minimum lot size will not 

necessarily maintain rural character, yet this is exactly what the plan 15 

anticipates apparently. 

 

 Add to this the likelihood of any or all of these lots being further 

subdivided is shown in this exhibit B diagram, comparison between 

operative, notified, and revised Proposal Provisions for rural division 20 

and rural Banks Peninsula Zone.  There will be an even greater loss of 

rural character. 

 

 Presumably the Purau’s property consent was granted because decision 

makers believe the 40 hectare lot size would maintain rural character.  25 

Providing a mechanism to enable those landowners to further 

subdivide, erodes the justification for the original subdivision another 

cumulative effect over time, not space. 

 

  [11.15 am] 30 

 

 So for the record, Lyttelton/Mount Herbert Community Board does not 

support the change proposed in the Revised Proposal as illustrated in 

two on that diagram because it will not have the effective limiting 

dwelling density in the rural zones. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So that is the diagram you are referring to here from the 

Council’s evidence yesterday? 

 

MS SMITH:   Exhibit B. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you. 

 

MS SMITH:   People come to live in our area because they love the 

landscapes.  People come to visit because they love our landscapes.  45 

Over recent years, many groups and individuals in our community have 
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played an active role in consent decisions affecting landscapes, 

sometimes at considerable personal cost.  When we, as board members, 

raised this with Council staff saying, “We need a plan which means our 

community does not have to keep battling away and making 

submissions to get good decisions and taking bad decisions to court”, 5 

we are told the District Plan review is the time to raise concerns about 

this so here we are. 

 

 What our community needs is a District Plan which will protect natural 

character and maintain rural character for us and our children after us.  10 

The current plan was not always delivering this outcome and it looks as 

if we may be in for more of the same.  What we need now is a plan 

which will provide our community with more certainty about good 

landscape outcomes even if it means the plan is less permissive overall.   

 15 

 At this stage I must confess I still do not fully understand all the 

implications of all the separate provisions affecting landscape but as 

this process unfolds it seems that we are likely to get a District Plan 

which is more permissive, not less, with even greater uncertainty about 

landscape outcomes for our community.  Thank you for listening. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Smith.  I will check with other Panel 

members first, I think.  Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   Thank you, Ms Smith, and again thank you for the photographs 25 

which are useful.  I think having listened to you and read the evidence, 

I have got a pretty good idea of your concerns and what you are after in 

general terms but I am just wondering if you could be any more 

specific about what it is in the provisions themselves.  You made some 

suggestions, but what is it you are actually – what decision are you 30 

seeking specifically? 

 

MS SMITH:   We are seeking overall protecting natural character and 

maintaining rural character and to do that you need to slow the rate of 

change somehow and the plan is the mechanism to do that.  The thing 35 

about the Purau’s subdivision was that it totally gobbled up a huge 

chunk of Banks Peninsula in one go and that is the problem with 

subdivision is that it is those decisions that are made right at the 

beginning that have such a significant outcome on landscape and if you 

are going to hold the line you have to do it at the subdivision stage, 40 

hold the line, I guess is what I am saying. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, and your submission refers specifically to increasing the 

minimum lot sizes which I think you - - - 

 45 

MS SMITH:   Well as I said it was just to get something on the page. 
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MR WILLIS:   So you do not have a particular size, or? 

 

MS SMITH:   Well what I have said there just now is that 50 hectares maybe 

could be considered but really maybe someone should be thinking 5 

about whether to have that 40 hectare threshold in the plan at all 

because it does not provide lifestyle properties and it does not really 

provide farms, it something in between that is neither one thing nor the 

other. 

 10 

MR WILLIS:   In that regard, the proposal as I understand it from Ms Hogan 

which is indicated on the piece of paper you held up a little earlier was 

that effectively the farm becomes – well, the property becomes partly 

protected and then we effectively only have one hectare rural 

residential lot with the remainder remaining in a rural environment. 15 

 

MS SMITH:   Protected from further dwellings, from increased density. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, and any natural assets on their protected as part of that 

process. 20 

 

MS SMITH:   But isn’t she saying where this happens where a lot is bigger 

than 40 hectares, you are still going to get it carved up into 40 hectare 

lots over time? 

 25 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, as I understand that proposal, yes. 

 

  [11.20 am] 

 

MS SMITH:  So the ultimate outcome is all of Banks Peninsula is more or less 30 

40 hectare lots. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Well; it is below the 160 metre contour line, yes.  That is the 

nature of minimum lot sizes I guess but, okay, so I understand your 

point, your minimum line is something larger than 40 but you after 35 

something somewhat more comprehensive in response? 

 

MS SMITH:   Yes, and, you know, Banks Peninsula is considered an 

outstanding natural landscape regionally and, you know, it is not just 

about maintaining rural character but the subdivision rules also need to 40 

consider how that natural character will be managed sustainably for the 

future and the Purau Properties subdivision gobbled that up pretty 

quickly. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, thank you.   45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   Thank you, yes, Ms Smith.  So that we have scope issues, as I 

understand it you are referring to 8.2.3.1 and the table 1 which is on 

page 18 of the plan. 5 

 

MS SMITH:   I have no idea - - - 

 

MR NEILL:   And I say that so that we can reflect back so that when we look 

at your submission we have justification to consider the 40 hectare size 10 

and it is number - - - 

 

MS SMITH:   Oh, okay. 

 

MR NEILL:   - - - 5 in Residential Large Lot on page 21 where it say, “In the 15 

Residential Large Lot zone Akaroa hill slopes deferred for the 

minimum net size shall be 40 hectares”, that is the correct? 

 

MS SMITH:   Yes. 

 20 

MR NEILL:   Okay.  Can I just ask and better understand what input a 

Community Board has, a duly democratically elected board, to 

influence Council and Council staff when writing these papers for 

consideration in the plan itself? 

 25 

 

MS SMITH:   In a normal process there would be opportunities for the 

Community Board to have conversations with the Council staff about 

what is going to be proposed but because of the truncated timelines 

there was not an opportunity for those steps and that is why some of us 30 

are here because it is our only opportunity to.   

 

 And, you know, I always understood that the district plan was like a 

social contract between the community as represented by the Council 

and people who wanted to develop, you know, landowners basically 35 

but it kind of isn’t working that way now and it has evolved into 

something else. 

 

MR NEILL:   Thank you. 

 40 

MS SMITH:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Ms Smith.  So I am sorry to ask you some of the 45 

same sort of questions and I know it is – I mean you have said that you 
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haven’t delved into the rule numbers et cetera but can I just make sure I 

am hearing you correctly.  At the moment in what is before us at the 

moment below that 160 metre contour in the rural area, am I right that 

you think, and I always think, that a 40 hectare allotment is easy to 

subdivide, it is a controlled activity, a straight 40 hectares allotment or 5 

several of them is what the plan provides for. 

 

MS SMITH:   Correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and you would like that to be either bigger or an 10 

alternative way of subdividing? 

 

MS SMITH:   Or harder to get. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Or hardened, yes.  Now, the second thing I think you said and 15 

you held up that diagram from Ms Hogan and I think what you are 

saying here is that in addition to that once a 40 hectare lot is created 

with one house there is this opportunity for a second house provided 

the 39 hectares is covenanted, or something like that? 

 20 

MS SMITH:   That is my understanding of what is currently being proposed. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so what you have said here is add to this the likelihood 

of potentially another house coming along and having two houses. 

 25 

MS SMITH:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So thank you, that is what I was thinking you were saying 

and it is similar. 

 30 

MS SMITH:   And it has also been the experience of people who have been 

involved in the submission processes that almost everything that gets 

applied for that consent is granted regardless of the activity status. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And if the activity status is controlled activity? 35 

 

MS SMITH:   Well, there is no discussion.  Well, there is some discussion but - 

- - 

 

MS DAWSON:   But it is around conditions et cetera rather than whether it is 40 

approved or not.  All right, so thank you that is good.  And is the 

Community Board going to come along to the natural and cultural 

heritage hearings in the next stage? 

 

  [11.25 am] 45 
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MS SMITH:   If we can.  One of the things I did want to say because yesterday, 

Judge Hassan, you were asking some of the other submitters about 

whether you should hold over making a decision about the subdivision 

chapter until you have heard this.  My observation on this chapter is 

that you have only heard from planners and it might be really useful to 5 

run some of these scenarios past the landscape architects when you 

consider that.  I don’t know, that would be what I would do in your 

situation. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Perhaps if I could just comment on that.  Yes, I mean 10 

according to due process we will need to consider what we can do by 

way of different proposals but I might as well as just ask the question 

that I had intended to ask you.  So is it the Community Board’s view 

that we should withhold from making a decision on this particular 

proposal until the Panel constituted for the natural and cultural heritage 15 

matters, hears that matter? 

 

MS SMITH:   Yes, it is. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, that was my thought too, thank you very much. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and that has covered all my questions now and I was 

just having a skim through the Regional Policy Statement beforehand 25 

and I see what you mean by way of the identification of Banks 

Peninsula in this document as well so no doubt that will be relevant in 

terms of the obligations to give effect to policy statement that we will 

need to consider in it due course. 

 30 

MS SMITH:   Thank you. 

 

<PAULA SMITH WITHDREW [11.26 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, now, have we got Trudo Wylaars here? 35 

 

MS WYLAARS:   I am speaking on his behalf. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay, come forward. 

 40 

MS WYLAARS:   You should have my evidence. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So you your name is Marina Wylaars? 

 

MS WYLAARS:   It is, yes.  Have you got my evidence? 45 

 



 Page 179 

  

Ch8: Subdivision, Development and Earthworks (Part) Commenced 02.11.15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will just see if we can find it here.   

 

MS WYLAARS:   I have also got a, it is not PowerPoint, it is just my 

submission (INDISTINCT 2.11) it is in the folder with the evidence. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So that is a copy of the submission on that, is it? 

 

MS WYLAARS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So what have you just handed to the Secretariat? 10 

 

MS WYLAARS:   A copy of this. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I see, yes, which we have got a copy of, that is good, all 

right, thank you.  All right, Ms Wylaars, if you could just proceed, 15 

thank you. 
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<MARINA WYLAARS [11.27 am] 
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MS WYLAARS:   Okay, so in Mr Long’s, I have just forgotten what is called, 

what he has presented to you people. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   His evidence. 

 5 

MS WYLAARS:   His evidence, yes, point 7.2.  He believes that the issues that 

we are facing in the Lower Styx area are due to maintenance and 

operational issues and my submission or my evidence is hopefully 

showing that that is not the case.  And I think the problem that we are 

facing is that we are not actually talking about something that is in the 10 

district plan, we are talking about an omission from the district plan 

which is flood protection for our properties in the Lower Styx and Styx 

catchment. 

 

 The water services assessment says that planning measures that no 15 

habitable building should be inundated and that if a river catchment has 

got capacity constraints the Council needs to ensure that peak flows are 

managed, and that they need to monitor city growth around that, and 

our problem is that the Styx catchment doesn’t appear in the city 

planning process.  So in the consultation document for this plan the 20 

Styx catchment wasn’t part of that consultation document.  The Avon 

and the Heathcote were but the Styx wasn’t there. 

 

 And we have been trying to talk to the Council about what they plan to 

do to manage the water that is coming down the Styx River and the 25 

Kaputone Creek and the drains and we are getting sort of like a blank 

wall so we are here just to alert you to the issues that we face.  And I 

am just wondering can those photos come up? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 30 

 

MS WYLAARS:   Okay, so on the first page of the submission is a photo of 

the Styx River. 

 

  [11.30 am] 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS WYLAARS:   Yes, and go back. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So – yes, and so you got that - - -  

 

MS WYLAARS:   Have you got the document which says, with submitter 

2534?  It is in the evidence folder. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, we have. 
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MS WYLAARS:   Oh, you have got the information, I am just talking about 

the person who has got the – okay, I will just continue, assuming that 

people do have - - -  

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS WYLAARS:   So my name is Marina Wylaars, I live at 561 Marshland 

Road which is just – you can see on the – it is just by the Styx Bridge, 

we live on the Kaputone/Styx River confluence and there is also a 10 

drain, so there are three waterways, and on the photo on the – up on the 

screen and in front of you, our house is just tucked in behind the trees, 

and you can see the water measuring stick by the bridge, and the little 

wee white dot on top was an additional measuring device that they put 

on that measuring stick and put a 12 on it because in April 2014 the 15 

water came completely above that measuring stick. 

 

 So our family has owned the property – this property for the past 30 

years and we have a small bridge over the creek which is now managed 

by the Christchurch City Council as part of the Kaputone/Styx 20 

Confluence Conservation Reserve which is behind our house. 

 

 And the photo - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that bridge the one that comes up bit later on in these 25 

photos? 

 

MS WYLAARS:   Yes, appendix 1 shows the bridge as it is at the moment 

with the water levels quite low, appendix 1, and the water as it was in 

April 2014, and the water has never ever flown over that bridge until 30 

recently, like in the last two years. 

 

 So the first point that I want to make, is that there is a lot more water in 

both the Kaputone and the Styx River than there used to be, ever since 

we have had the Northwood subdivisions, the new industrial park in 35 

Belfast, now they are proposing Highfield, Spring Grove and Prestons 

and I – when – it was after Prestons came in that we actually started 

having this huge amount of water flowing over the bridge, and my 

thought at that point was, “Is the water coming off Prestons, stopping 

the water upstream?”, 40 

 

 So just to get people, Ms Snook that was talking before is in the lower 

Styx, I am slightly higher and you may get evidence later from people 

even further upstream from the Kaputone Creek who are also now 

having their land flooded. 45 
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 So if – in a very – in the corner of the first page, there is a picture of a 

very large tree that in summer, and not in a storm even, fell over both 

the Kaputone Creek and the Styx River, and if you have a look at the 

water measure, and this is behind the tree so it is not being affected by 

the tree because the water is flowing towards the sea, see how high that 5 

water is, if we had a major rain event when the water level is that high 

– and this is without a rain event – we would be in serious flooding 

trouble all the way up the Styx River and the Kaputone Creek. 

 

 So that - - -  10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry to interrupt you there, but is the Kaputone Creek 

come in at an angle there by that yellow stick? 

 

MS WYLAARS:   Yes, yes, so the Kaputone Creek is the back one and the 15 

Styx River is the front one and that really large tree fell over both the – 

and it was – if you look, it is mid-summer and it wasn’t a storm event 

that cause that tree to fall, it was actually the – further in my evidence I 

will talk about what has been happening to the trees. 

 20 

 So just to go back a wee bit, the first point, that there is a lot more 

water in the creek, if you go to page 2, the top photo, 30 years ago 

when my parents bought the house at 561 Marshland Road, my parents 

could jump over the Kaputone Creek to get to the farmland on the other 

side.  Where they jumped across the creek is now shown and there is 25 

just absolutely no way you can jump across that creek, there is a greater 

volume of water in the creek and the increased volume of water has 

decrease the capacity of the waterway to adequately cope with a large 

rain event – now this is actually when the water is low for today. 

 30 

 People living close to the river are at greater risk of being affected by a 

flooding event.  On 17 April 2014, according to NIWA’s statistics, we 

had 51 millimetres of rain in 24 hours; this is an equivalent of an eight 

year event. 

 35 

  [11.35 am] 

 

 The bridge shown in appendix 1, which you just had a look at, which 

had been insitu for 27 years and up till 2013 had never had water 

flowing over it, now has water, a great large volume of water flowing 40 

over it actually.  The water levels were significantly higher than ever 

before. 

 

 Now just in terms of interesting evidence, the increased flood 

vulnerability engineering assessment of our property which is appendix 45 
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2, states that this actually was a one in 100 year flooding – that the 

levels reached a one in 100 year flooding event. 

 

 It is also interesting to note that the property shows no significance of 

subsidence from the earthquake, and that the water levels that were 5 

reached in this one in eight year flood, equate to a one in 100 year, so it 

is a one in eight year rain event equates to a one in 100 year flood 

event. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So the source of that document you have got there, just if 10 

you just let me know about that, so - - -  

 

MS WYLAARS:   The increase flood vulnerability engineering assessment 

came with our IVF report from EQC - - -  

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MS WYLAARS:   - - - to say that we are actually not flood vulnerable, and that 

we won’t get any money from EQC because of our flood vulnerability, 

even though our water has been waterlogged – our land is waterlogged 20 

and the soak away from our septic tank has been underwater since the 

earthquake, but that is another issue really. 

 

 So the other thing, just to go back to point 7.2 that the issues relate to 

the maintenance and operational issues, the - - -  25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So this is Mr Long’s evidence? 

 

MS WYLAARS:   Yes.  In February 2014 the river weed was cut, so two 

months after the river weed was cut, which is the maintenance issue 30 

that they put for – like they put forward two reasons for our flooding, 

subsidence and earthquake effects and river weed, both of those I 

believe are not applicable because the river weed had been cut in 

February, two months later we have the flood event that shown on 

appendix 1, which is the water over the bridge, and if you have a look 35 

at the other page, I have got “now and then” photos of water behind our 

house. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  So is this the appendix 1 photos, viewed towards 

Styx - - -  40 

 

MS WYLAARS:   Appendix 1, yes, continued view towards the Styx Bridge 

on Marshland now and - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You are going through a flooding. 45 
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MS WYLAARS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So that piece of land we see there in the foreground with 

the silver birch tree - - -  

 5 

MS WYLAARS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - is your property? 

 

MS WYLAARS:   Yes. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And that is the comparison there. 

 

MS WYLAARS:   Yes.  So that is our garden just in front of the birch tree. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS WYLAARS:   And our wood stack beside our macrocarpa hedge – we 

have never ever had water up to the macrocarpa hedge, never, even in 

1986, 86 millimetres of rain fell, 200 millimetres over a week and my 20 

father – who has lived there for 30 years – said that the water did not 

rise anywhere near as high it got to April 2014, the waters never ever 

been beside the macrocarpa hedge like that, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 25 

 

MS WYLAARS:   The increase water flow has left the land waterlogged and 

killed off large trees and also cause some of them to fall.  So on that 

photo with the flooding you can see an arrow pointing to a trunk, and 

next to the picture the increase water flows left the waterlog and killed 30 

of large trees and cause some to fall – you can see the tree has fallen 

through our macrocarpa hedge and into our backyard.  In the past year 

two trees have fallen through our macrocarpa hedge - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So have - - -  35 

 

MS WYLAARS:   - - - we have also lost lots and lots of other trees, trees have 

died and the very large tree that fell over Kaputone and Styx has fallen, 

there is – I don’t know, probably about 10 trees have fallen in the last 

year around our property due to the land being waterlogged and as a 40 

result of the increased water flow in the Styx - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so that, that - - -  

 

MS WYLAARS:   - - - and the Kaputone. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   That tree falling photo is the second, on the second page, 

is it not, in that small photo at the bottom? 

 

MS WYLAARS:   Yes, and the trunk of it is where the arrow is, little arrow on 

the appendix 1 continued – sorry, yes. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, it is all right, we just – I can follow that. 

 

MS WYLAARS:   Yes.  An obvious change correlating with the changes to the 

water volumes, are the subdivisions in the Styx catchment, beginning 10 

with Northwood, Redwood, Springs and now Belfast industrial and 

Prestons. 

 

  [11.40 am] 

 15 

 We are concerned that the proliferation of subdivisions planned and 

proposed in the Styx catchment; we are concerned about them.  The 

smart choice is 2015-2025 CC consultation document, there is no 

mention of stormwater planning in the Styx catchment, this needs 

urgent consideration before more subdivisions are consented. 20 

 

 An additional appendix that I have put in here, is that the Coastal 

Inundation Zone for our property, which is exactly the same as the 100 

year flood line, I don’t have that on the PowerPoint. 

 25 

 Someone was talking about planning by stealth or something, that we 

end up with these flood zones really close to our house and people will 

say, “Oh, well, you know, that’s how it’s going to be”, but in fact it’s 

not how it was.  We had a lot less water around our property before the 

subdivisions went in. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  So just thinking about time, Ms Wylaars, do you want to 

move to tell us what it is you want from the plan provisions? 

 

MS WYLAARS:   Well, I think that we actually want to be reassured that there 35 

is a plan about what is going to happen to the stormwater from the Styx 

catchment, that there is some idea about how that water is going to be 

dealt with as more subdivisions are going in around us.  There Is a very 

large area in the Styx catchment that is proposed subdivision, some is 

planned subdivision. 40 

 

 I know that there are some speakers that are coming after me who have 

been more affected by the Preston’s subdivision, so I suppose we are 

concerned about the process of the subdivisions going ahead without 

due consideration of the downstream impact of water, and we are kind 45 

of wearing the result with increased water around our properties. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes.  All right, well, look I will test with the Panel 

Members questions, Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   No, thank you, Ms Wylaars, you have made your concerns very 5 

clearly noted. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   No, I have no questions, sir, thank you. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, thank you.  I think the answer to the Judge’s question 

was exactly what I was going to ask, thank you very much. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, thank you for coming along and speaking about these 

issues, and obviously we will have to give some thought to all of this in 

terms of the provisions that we need to deal with and the issues that you 

are concerned about.  Thank you very much. 20 

 

MS WYLAARS:   I am just aware that some of the people have got some ideas 

about maybe cut – you know, different ways that the Styx water can be 

dealt with, but just at the moment there seems to be no plan. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, the one question I was going to ask, sorry, and I have 

asked others, Mr Harrington’s name has been mentioned, have you 

spoken to any Council Officers in terms of Council works programmes 

and flood management plan documents? 

 30 

MS WYLAARS:   Yes, we have, we had a very large community meeting to 

try and alert the Council to the increased water issues that we are 

having. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  So you attended that meeting? 35 

 

MS WYLAARS:   Yes, I did. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes. 

 40 

MS WYLAARS:   And we were told that it was around operations and 

management, but we are aware that – like the increased volume of 

water even in the Kaputone Creek at the moment is way more than 

what we have had ever had before.  There is much, much more water 

flowing down, and Belfast industrial is certainly putting water into the 45 

creek at the moment. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:  All right.  Well, thank you very much. 

 

MS WYLAARS:   Okay, thanks. 

 5 

<MARINA WYLAARS WITHDREW [11.44 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right, so now just in terms of the programme again, it 

is 11.45 am now, how is the Panel feeling, do you want to have a quick 

break or do you want to carry on? 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, let is have one. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  We need a bit of a comfort stop, if that is all right, so we 

are going to give ourselves a 10 minute break. 15 

 

ADJOURNED [11.44 am] 

 

RESUMED [11.59 am] 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so do we have Raymond and Pauline McGuigan 

here?  Good morning, if you could just come up to the microphone 

there. 

 

25 
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<PAULINE McGUIGAN [12.00 pm] 
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MS McGUIGAN:   Good morning, your Honour.  I wonder if I could just have 

a support person sitting beside me. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, by all means.  2844, I will just have a look at this 

one. 5 

 

MS McGUIGAN:   I do not know whether I need to introduce the support 

person? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   By all means, just introduce your support person. 10 

 

MS McGUIGAN:   A neighbouring property owner, Sue McLachlan. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, so Ms McGuigan, so we have read the materials 

that you have got and I understand you have got a video or something 15 

to show.  

 

MS McGUIGAN:   I have. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Have you got that ready? 20 

 

MS McGUIGAN:   I just – sorry. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, that is all right.  What were you going to say? 

 25 

MS McGUIGAN:   I have just got a short introduction and then I am going to 

refer to the video and after that I will continue with my submission. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you, that is fine.  Just proceed. 

 30 

MS McGUIGAN:   Good morning, your Honour, and the Panel.  My name is 

Pauline McGuigan, as you know, and my husband and I live at 

26 Lower Styx Road, Marshlands.  We are laypeople; we have lived 

and worked on our rural block for the past 20 years and we supplement 

our income with horticultural, cropping and grazing activities. 35 

 

 The residential development Prestons has proceeded along our 

390 metre eastern boundary and we have become an affected party.  I 

would like to present to the Panel a brief summary of the effects on our 

change living environment with the subdivision proceeding and I 40 

would like to start by playing a short video that I have prepared and this 

video centres around the rain event in April 2014 which was an eight 

year event over a 24 hour period as stated by NIWA. 

 

 The first picture that you have in front of you is the stormwater exit 45 

channel from Preston’s subdivision and as you can see the subdivision 
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has not been completed but it is operational and that is a bund on the 

eastern side of the exit channel.  If you can have the next slide, please. 

 

 You can see this is the exit channel – just go slowly – that is the bund, 

the green, if you can stop it there.  Sorry, I informed you correctly 5 

before.  The green portion is actually the bund between the stormwater 

retention ponds and the exit channel, the main exit channel for the 

subdivision going into the Styx River.  This is as I said the eight year 

event in April 2014.  If we go over a bit further we then come to the 

actual stormwater retention ponds and that line – sorry, can we just go 10 

back.  Sorry, I am causing all sorts of - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is fine, just relax, don’t worry about it. 

 

MS McGUIGAN:   The line of trees that have gone again, they are still there. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The line of trees gone. 

 

MS McGUIGAN:   Yes, that is our boundary, that is half of our boundary in 

the poplar trees and though the water you can see there, that is the 20 

retention ponds.  What is not visible is there is a small walkway within 

those retention ponds going between them that is covered in water and 

then if we go to the next part of it, this is the water discharging on that 

day into the Styx River and it is actually being aided by pump which is 

audible, when we play it you can actually hear the pump going.  So this 25 

is in conjunction with the channel, they have also got a pump that is 

part of it. 

 

 Now this is our boundary along part of our 390 metre boundary.  This 

is me standing there, I am standing on what was the original ground 30 

level and it is the 1.8 metre fence required by the subdivision consent 

along our boundary, the other fence is a pool fence erected on the 

higher ground level within the subdivision. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In that higher ground level, is that indicated by the 35 

retaining wall part of that fence? 

 

MS McGUIGAN:   No, I think the next – if we go a bit further you will see 

clearly how the higher ground has proceeded.  Oh, no, this is a house.  

Do you mind if I just talk to it as it goes through? 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yeah, that is fine. 

 

MS McGUIGAN:   This is a new house that has been built, the very last 

section at the end of our boundary and it just shows again the 1.8 metre 45 

high fence, the pool fence on the higher ground. 
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MS DAWSON:   Excuse me, does the land come up almost to the top of the 

paling fence?  The land behind? 

 

MS McGUIGAN:   The Preston’s? 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MS McGUIGAN:   Yes, it does almost, and I think you will see this when we 

go through it in the next slide, if we go through you are looking at 10 

again our property. 

 

  [12.05 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   Is that your land in the foreground there? 15 

 

MS McGUIGAN:   Yes.  There, I am standing on what was the original ground 

level there and that is the fill, the earthworks fill and the land is level 

with that retainer.  

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I see. 

 

MS McGUIGAN:   It is only the fence that is actually hiding that retainer wall. 

 

MR NEILL:   Is that a wee walkway between the fence and the other fence? 25 

 

MS McGUIGAN:   No – you are talking there?  No, that there has a Novaflow 

pipe drain directly behind that top board to aid drainage from the 

retainer wall.  I am not going to speak too much on the actual drainage 

part of that how that has proceeded but our drainage engineer said that 30 

that is inappropriate for a drainage system for a retaining wall.  It 

actually ends up being up the wall rather than at the base of the wall. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, just proceed. 

 35 

MS McGUIGAN:   Okay, so that shows you – basically I am looking, what 

would be looking at the foundations of the house if it was not for the 

1.8 metre boundary fence and we continue on. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What we might need to do, is you can speak to these 40 

slides but it would be better for us and probably better for you if you 

mute the sound and just speak to them otherwise it gets very hard to 

hear. 

 

MS McGUIGAN:   Okay, I am happy to do that.   This is the LIDAR map and 45 

our property is the rectangle – yes, that is our property there where the 
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wee arrow is pointing.  The LIDAR map shows the natural gradient 

that the land was pre-development and it shows it in a west to east 

direction and the green area on the old farm which is now Preston’s 

subdivision is the significant ponding area where all our western rural 

properties drained into or most of the western rural properties drained 5 

into – at least three of us anyway. 

 

 The ponds are in that corner at the front left, just about where the 

arrow, that is where the ponds are but I will probably show this as we 

go through.  So the LIDAR map, I am just showing you what the pre-10 

development - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So pre-development your property has drained towards 

that land, post-development that land is higher than your hand? 

 15 

MS McGUIGAN:   Yes, basically with that earthworks that you saw.  Okay, 

and if you can go to the next one, please.  It shows the Styx River there 

too, you can see the blue; that’s the Styx River and it gets very close to 

what is now Preston’s Development, the river comes in relatively close 

to that subdivision.   20 

 

 I am just highlighting there again that natural gradient, I was speaking 

to this so this is an ariel shot and you can see the – do you mind if I do 

play it, your Honour? 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will just see how we go, it is preferable to have you 

speak rather than it speak but I will let you go on this one.  I do not 

think that Mr Laing has any issues with it. 

 

MS McGUIGAN:   What I would like to show you here is this is the main 30 

Styx River, this is the Janet Stewart Reserve.  The channel proceeds to 

Brookland so it is here.  This is the main channel for Preston’s 

Development, their exit channel and the exit pipe into the river and you 

can see it is very close to the river here.  These are the ponds in our 

boundary and what is proposed is a swale, the two metre opening 35 

would occur there and the swale would run down this treeline.  What 

this fixes, we do not know. 

 

  [12.10 pm] 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, Ms McGuigan, your comments there were referring 

to Mr Pott’s report which comments on, this was a mitigation measure 

was proposed, was it? 

 

MS McGUIGAN:   Mm'hm. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And what did he say in regard to its validity, that there 

was some risk with it? 

 

MS McGUIGAN:   Exception or risk. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay.  And so the concern you have about that 

mitigation measure is it does not cover off the basis for you. 

 

MS McGUIGAN:   No, it makes us – it exasperates the situation. 

 10 

 I think is – is that the last – yes, that is the last shot, okay – perhaps – 

do you mind if I continue to read through because I think it is - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, just be mindful of the time, you have been going just 

over 10 minutes. 15 

 

MS McGUIGAN:   Okay.  I have spoken to the DVD and I also gave you a 

photo showing those stormwater ponds with an emergency swale 

running down our property in the eight year rain event – you should 

have that attached to your documents there. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS McGUIGAN:   Okay.  Since February 2013 we have been placed in a 

position of having to protect our property and home and the associated 25 

costs have been in excess of 50,000 to date and are ongoing. 

 

 A consent for earthworks allow for a one metre plus high embankment 

to be placed along our boundary, this consent was approved non-

notified. 30 

 

 The higher ground level had the immediate effect of stopping the pre-

development cross drainage pattern and we were required to engage a 

qualified drainage engineer, Mr Rob Potts, in early 2013.  Mr Potts 

continues to represent us with drainage matters. 35 

 

 I would like to say here that it has taken two and a half years for the 

developer to accept that they stop the pre-development cross drainage 

pattern. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That cross drainage pattern you refer to again before was 

it not, across the lower - - -  

 

MS McGUIGAN:   On the LIDAR map. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - to the lower land that you used to be there? 
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MS McGUIGAN:   Yes.  Our property has now become the lowest area within 

the remaining rural peninsula as a result of the earthworks.  The 

Outline Development Plan for the subdivision initially place the 

stormwater retention ponds in a central position within the new 5 

residential homes. 

 

 However, early in the subdivision process the stormwater ponds were 

relocated and now abuts our eastern boundary.  This variation to the 

ponds position was approve with the ponds being a utility, and a 10 

permitted activity under Chapter 11.3.5.  No communication on the 

change position for the stormwater retention ponds from either 

Christchurch City Council or the developer was forthcoming. 

 

 This change prompted our concern with the secondary flow path for the 15 

development stormwater when the free board within the retention 

ponds is exceeded.  We documented our concern in a submission 

presented to Environment Canterbury in April 2013.  Environment 

Canterbury's response stated: “All stormwater from the subdivision 

must be contain within the development and if stormwater escapes onto 20 

our property this will be in breach of the developer’s consents.” 

 

 More recently the developer has proposed cutting a two metre wide 

opening in the stormwater ponds embankment at a height of 11.5 – I’m 

talking there the exit height, the ground level – so it will be below the 25 

water line or at the water line within the retention ponds. 

 

 This opening will allow for stormwater to backflow along the propose 

swale which runs parallel to our boundary.  Our drainage engineer, Mr 

Rob Potts, completed further calculations and confirms our property 30 

will be at risk of flooding and certain storm events, if a hole is cut in 

the ponds embankment. 

 

 Our property will be the secondary flow path at the lower level of 11.5, 

and I gave you Rob Potts’s report which hopefully you have had an 35 

opportunity to read. 

 

 I have referred to a cross section and it identifies the heights that are 

around us, and in particular the Lower Styx Road is 13.4, the lowest 

residential lot abutting our boundary, on the cross section it says “13”, 40 

but in a letter I have it is actually 13.15. 

 

 The bund separating the main exit channel and stormwater retention 

ponds is 12.65, and that is that grassy bund that I was referring to in the 

DVD, so it is a bit like a ware, when the river comes up it just 45 

overflows into that. 
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 The residential lots abutting the main channel on the eastern side of the 

subdivision is 13.6, and the stormwater embankment abutting our 

property is 13, so we are the lowest point. 

 5 

  [12.15 pm] 

 

 Further to this, it is important to consider the impact the Styx River has 

on the development stormwater systems and design.  The river is 

approximately 20 metres away from the exit point for the developments 10 

main outlet channel.  This short distance between the developments 

outlet channel and the river will allow for an immediate effect on the 

development stormwater system when the river is high and in flood.  In 

these events the river will backflow or equalise between the river and 

the waterways within the development.  The retention ponds will in 15 

these events retain water, the purpose for which they were constructed. 

 

 The proposal to cut a two metre wide opening in the ponds 

embankment – or perhaps better described as a dam when it is viewed 

from our property – exasperates our situation and creates an adverse 20 

effect which can only be considered more than minor. 

 

 This situation was never anticipated by us when consent to rezone to 

residential was approved, and we believe the rules contained within the 

District Plan would apply and provide protection for our biggest asset; 25 

our home. 

 

 We support the process that any variation from the District Plan rules 

require careful consideration, and any adverse effects by Christchurch 

City Council staff, resulting in consents proceeding on a limited 30 

notified basis, when effects are considered more than minor. 

 

 Cleary we believe the approval of non-notified consents for earthworks, 

which have exceeded the permitted activities, or the – sorry, the 

permitted levels, and the place ment of permitted activities being 35 

stormwater retention ponds without considering the surrounding 

environment, has allowed our personal situation.  A situation which has 

resulted in enormous stress being placed on our lives and seeking a just 

and fair resolution. 

 40 

 One purpose for our submission is our concerns for Christchurch 

residents going forward.  A situation we feel cannot be repeated when 

the red zone is redeveloped and/or remediated.  The relief we are 

seeking – and I refer to the rules here within the District Plan – and I’m 

not a planner, but I’ve picked out a couple – one, is the rules which – 45 

the earthworks rules which apply to stormwater retention ponds.  
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Clause 8.8.56 be amended so that exemption does not apply to 

stormwater ponds, and the earthworks rules do apply. 

 

 Presently establishment of stormwater retention ponds are exempt 

under subdivision and development, Chapter 8.8.56 because they are a 5 

utility and a permitted activity under Chapter 11.3.5.1. 

 

 I would like to amend Chapter 11.4, as part of the assessment matters 

for utilities, in particular to water, wastewater and stormwater, and 

retention ponds, and create an additional clause, which includes 10 

assessment of effects on the adjoining properties when establishing 

stormwater retention ponds. 

 

 I would like to amend Chapter 8.87, matters for discretion, and I would 

like under the Nuisance heading to create an additional clause, which 15 

includes assessment of any adverse effects on the surrounding 

environment when establishing stormwater retention ponds. 

 

 I would also like to drawn to the Panel’s attention at this point to 

amended wording under this matter for discretion, Nuisance 1.  The 20 

word “any” has been imbedded to the extent to which – and I am 

seeking clarification from the Panel as to the intent of this amendment 

– I believe this may have a watering down effect on considering the 

adverse effects. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well first of all just on that matter, I just want to find it 

first, this being of course proposals put by the Council to us, not 

necessarily reflecting the views of the Panel at all, it is a matter for us 

to decide in due course what the proper provision should be – but can 

you just find that provision for me? 30 

 

MS McGUIGAN:   Are you talking the matters for discretion? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The one where you ask for clarification. 

 35 

MS McGUIGAN:   Right.  What I have got in front of me, it is 8.8.7, “Matters 

for Discretion”, under - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 40 

MS McGUIGAN:   - - - one, Nuisance. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Great. 

 

MS McGUIGAN:   And originally under “A” and all of them have been 45 

changed but it changed the word “any”, it deleted the word “any” and it 
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put in the wording “to the extent to which”, and to me if you read the 

proposed wording.  it almost has an effect of looking at the extent of 

the nuisance, taking the intent – I just think it may allow a more freeing 

up of looking at what are the adverse effects.   

 5 

  [12.20 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So just to understand your concern, is your concern that 

the change might mean that certain types of nuisance effects are not 

given proper consideration? 10 

 

MS McGUIGAN:  Yes, I am, and I think our experience highlights to me that 

the adverse effects that we have experienced, I don’t believe that they 

were given proper consideration, they were all non-notified, and I 

believe those effects are more than minor.  Particularly with what we 15 

are pursuing at the moment, with the stormwater retention ponds being 

opened up, and the potential for flooding on our property not from the 

river but the ponds. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So you were notified and involved in the first consenting 20 

process, but when the change was made to reposition the stormwater 

ponds under the permitted activity utility rule of the time, you were 

kept out of that obviously? 

 

MS McGUIGAN:  Yes. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right.   

 

MS McGUIGAN:  And then it is ongoing because they now take the view that 

it is a permitted utility and so therefore we get the feeling that we can, 30 

under the subdivision consent, which is different yet again, they can do 

these changes to the ponds and that is earthworks, and I am sorry, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, thank you very much, Ms McGuigan.  It is very 

helpful and obviously commendable of someone to come along and tell 35 

us about things that might make the lives of other people better from 

the experiences of yourself. 

 

 So I will check with my Panel Members about questions, and it is also 

helpful, if I may say, that you have focused particularly on the 40 

provisions of the plan and how you seek relief within those, because 

that is what we can change. 

 

MS McGUIGAN:  Thank you. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, Mr Willis? 
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MR WILLIS:  Ms McGuigan, I just have one minor point of clarification 

really, just so that I understand the status of Mr Potts’ report, because 

the letter is addressed to Ms Tui I think, is that correct? 

 5 

MS McGUIGAN:  Yes. 

 

MR WILLIS:  I just wanted to work out the relationship between yourself and 

Ms Tui. 

 10 

MS McGUIGAN:  Because of the boundary treatment there are ongoing 

matters that need to be sorted and Ms Tui is representing, she is a 

barrister, and so she is representing us in that capacity. 

 

MR WILLIS:  I see.  So you commissioned Mr Potts to do the work and he 15 

replied to Ms Tui? 

 

MS McGUIGAN:  Yes.  There is communication between the developers, legal 

representatives and ourselves.  Mr Potts was engaged primarily because 

of the earthworks consent and the drainage, suddenly we thought we 20 

had cross-drainage problem, we didn’t envisage we would have to 

engage legal advice at that point, we thought we could have sorted the 

matter out, but unfortunately that does not seem to be the case.   

 

MR WILLIS:  In this letter, sorry, you discussed this letter with the Council? 25 

 

MS McGUIGAN:  Yes, Council have been involved, have received all reports 

and there has been many, many emails and discussions with Council 

over this boundary. 

 30 

MR WILLIS:  Okay, that is all.  Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   I have no questions, sir.  Thank you for the video. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, now Ms McGuigan, you weren’t here when 

Ms Dawson indicated she wouldn’t be asking questions or participating 

in deliberation with regard to your submission because of some 

background involvement in a matter related to the land, which she 40 

explained on the transcript, and as I say I appreciate the effort you have 

gone to and we will have to give consideration to what you are putting 

forward by way of suggestions on drafting.   

 

 I will be interested to see what the Council’s view will be on the 45 

suggestions you make, including on the definition of utility or the 
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provision in regard to utility, utilities, mindful of your experience, and 

Mr Laing will indicate at some stage his suggested programme for 

providing an updated set of provisions to be distributed amongst those 

who haven taken part in the hearing before closing submissions 

coming. 5 

 

 So there will be a programme for that to occur as part of our process.  

Thank you very much. 

 

MS McGUIGAN:  Thank you, sir. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I have no further questions of you. 

 

MS McGUIGAN:  Thank you. 

 15 

<PAULINE McGUIGAN WITHDREW [12.25 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you for being patient, Ms Hargreaves, I think we 

might hear – I have got somebody who came in though, Mr Woodford, 

is Mr Woodford here?  You especially came in, so I might hear him 20 

first and then come back to you, if that is all right? 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   Of course. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Now, Mr Woodford, that is 2314.  All right, 25 

Mr Woodford, just proceed. 
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<KEITH WOODFORD [12.26 pm] 
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MR WOODFORD:  Thank you, your Honour.   

 

 This was a very simple decision requested in terms of brevity and 

conciseness that the Hind Hope Road could be for subdivision within 

RLL needs to retain the existing 3,000 square metre average for any 5 

subdivision in the new proposed plan that has been dropped off, so that 

essentially it would drop to a 1,500 square metre subdivision.   

 

 Now, the reason that I have argued for this is that the subdivision has 

not been well planned, originally the blocks were over one hectare, 10 

then they were allowed to be reduced in size to individual blocks at a 

minimum of 1,500 square metres, but the average for any subdivision 

had to be retained at 3,000. 

 

 Now, just to orientate the first – I have put two pictures up there – and 15 

it was just to orientate you as to where we are, if you look at the bottom 

right hand corner, we are actually looking at the Kennedy’s Bush Road 

working its way up the hill, and if you come around there to about 

somewhere just around that point there, you are very close now to the 

Hind Hope Road Subdivision, and if we moved off to the top then we 20 

have moving down into Halswell and Halswell School, so that is just 

for orientation.  Now the second photo is a blow up of that - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So just to get my own orientation, I was having a look 

around the quarry the other day with the dogs, where do I find the 25 

quarry? 

 

MR WOODFORD:  Okay, the quarry, if you go to the centre of the photo, 

come up just a little way, a quarter of the way up, and then across to the 

right and there, in there, that is all the quarry area all around there. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR WOODFORD:  If we go to the – and there is a blow up of the particular 

area that we are talking about.  So Hind Hope Road is that curved road 35 

around there. 

 

 Now, I think it is helpful to understand that this is a basalt out crop, it 

looks flat of course from above, but that is not the case at all.  If you 

looked, as an example there towards the right hand side, the grassy part 40 

which is currently three blocks, each of approximately 3,000 square 

metres, and if the provision for average 3,000 is dropped, then that 

would change to six.  That would be quite problematic because of the 

way the basalt lays and how that would in fact be subdivided to achieve 

that.   45 

 



 Page 203 

  

Ch8: Subdivision, Development and Earthworks (Part) Commenced 02.11.15 

 The next one around, which is all largely in bush, and that owner plans 

to keep it all that way, however, under the proposed plan that would 

subdivide potentially to possibly six, but maybe five, it is just very 

slightly under 9,000, a few metres under.  But of course there is a drain, 

and what some would call a stream, flowing through that as well. 5 

 

 So my key point is that this subdivision, if we had started out from a 

blank sheet of paper and knew that it was going to be 1,500 square 

metres minimum, then one would have put in some subsidiary little 

roads and would have designed it quite differently, but it has been 10 

designed according to existing rules where are 3,000 square metres 

average and I believe quite strongly that now moving it to 1,500 square 

metres average will change the whole character. 

 

  [12.30 pm] 15 

 

 There will be issues around drainage, the way the blocks would then 

have to be divided.  Down in the bottom of the picture there, we 

actually have four leg-in driveways that are right alongside each other, 

and these of course are included within the block size.  However, if it 20 

had been ideally planned, you would have put in a road there and that 

would have been separate and the block sizes would have been 

separately calculated. 

 

 So my key message is, because of the way it has been done, we now 25 

have ended up with effective block sizes of less than 1,500 square 

metres because of all the driveway effects.   

 

 I suggest that the change might have been almost by accident, that it 

has simply been – the special provision for 3,000 square metre average 30 

has simply dropped off the plan. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Let’s see if I can find this. 

 

MR NEILL:   I presume it is around page 21. 35 

 

MS ……….:   Table 1. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Table 1?  We are just going to see if we can find the 

provisions. 40 

 

MS ……….:   Third page. 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Yes. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think I have got it. 
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MR NEILL:   Is it Residential Large Lot, 1,500, and Residential Large Lot 

density overlay, the minimum for that site is 3,000. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Oh, Residential Large Lot.  Here it is.  Oh, okay. 5 

 

MR NEILL:   If you go to the end of that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  

 10 

MR NEILL:   There is a new one – yes, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that it?  Wish the Council could (INDISTINCT 2.03) 

 

 Okay, I think we have at least orientated ourselves to the right part of 15 

the plan - - -  

 

MR WOODFORD:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - and we have found Residential Large Lot, 1,500 20 

square metres, and there is a series of standards listed in the right-hand 

column.  Some of them have got track changes in it, but nothing 

pertains specifically to this land, which, you know, in other words 

would suggest that at least it is not there, as you say. 

 25 

MR WOODFORD:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I will just check if there were questions from the Panel.  

Any questions, Mr Willis? 

 30 

MR WILLIS:   No, I don’t, no. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   Mr Woodford, can we bring back up the photograph, the close-35 

up.  I take it this subdivision has actually been given consent? 

 

MR WOODFORD:   The existing subdivision has consent and my 

understanding is that everything there currently has consent. 

 40 

MR NEILL:   Yes, but the - - - 

 

MR WOODFORD:   There is no specific proposal that I am aware of for 

anybody to develop outside the current rules, but the new plan changes 

the rules, which would then make it feasible for a whole lot more 45 

subdivision to occur. 
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MR NEILL:   Yes, no, I accept that.  But the piece of land that you were 

particularly concerned about, right there, that piece? 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Yes, that one there is one example, yes. 5 

 

MR NEILL:   That is consented to?  There is a resource consent granted in 

respect to that subdivision? 

 

MR WOODFORD:   My understanding is that that is currently three separate 10 

titles, each of 3,000.  So currently it would be allowable for three 

houses to be built there and I am not arguing against that. 

 

MR NEILL:   No, but what you are saying is that any owner of any one of 

those lots could actually make an application to divide his lot into two 15 

new lots? 

 

MR WOODFORD:   That is right. 

 

MR NEILL:   Yes, okay. 20 

 

MR WOODFORD:   And although it looks a reasonably sort of – well, it is 

contiguous, but – it might look simple to further divide that, but when 

you actually walk across that land and see how it would occur, you 

would end up probably with very long, narrow blocks, which starts to 25 

then change the whole character of that subdivision. 

 

  [12.35 pm] 

 

MR NEILL:   I am sure that Mr Laing will in his closing specifically refer to 30 

that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, it will be up to Mr Laing, him and Council, to 

decide to do that, if that is their position.   

 35 

 And I think that has probably covered a question that I had as well.  

Just as a matter of interest, I am not sure if you have covered it in your 

submissions, but how long have you been in this neck of the woods, as 

it were? 

 40 

MR WOODFORD:   I have been there since – when did we build?  We built in 

2001 - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 45 

MR WOODFORD:   - - - so I have been there since, well, since 2002.  Yes. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   So your properties would enjoy a bit of a view from the 

escarpment?  I mean from the raised – it is not escarpment; probably 

the wrong word, but - - -  

 5 

MR WOODFORD:   Our - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - you mention the topography is elevated, so you have 

got views and things? 

 10 

MR WOODFORD:   That is right.  So all of these houses – possibly not all of 

them, but certainly our house has a view right across to the Alps.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 15 

MR WOODFORD:   And that, in fact, is not threatened by this particular 

subdivision.  The appearance of the subdivision from down on the 

Plains looking back would of course change, because there would be 

significantly more houses there.   

 20 

 But I think the key point I am trying to make is that the existing rules 

were put in for a reason.  I think to a large extent the change has 

probably just been one of those things that has happened.  It has not 

really been carefully considered, and I think anybody walking around 

and realising what this would do, is that this will considerably change 25 

the character.  It may also create some very real drainage issues. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, yes, I do not know about those and probably you do 

not either, so. 

 30 

MR WOODFORD:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Thank you very much for that.  That is very 

helpful. 

 35 

MR WOODFORD:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Good.  Sorry, Mr Willis? 

 

ME WILLIS:   I was just going to ask one – sorry, Mr Woodford – just one 40 

minor.  It occurred to me – I do not think you covered this point but I 

apologise if you did – the average size of those properties currently in 

that development? 

 

MR WOODFORD:   It must on average be 3,000, because we have some down 45 

to 1,500 - - - 
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MR WILLIS:   Yes. 

 

MR WOODFORD:   - - - but the consequence – for example, in the little sub 

area where I am, there was one block of 1.2 hectares and that was 5 

broken down into a 1,500, a 1,500, a 3,200 and a 6,000 roughly.   

 

MR WILLIS:   I see. 

 

MR WOODFORD:   So we have four that range from about 0.6 down to 0.15 10 

but give an average of 3,000. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, that explains it.  Looking at that, it looked a more denser 

in parts than 3,000 square metres, but the averaging would explain that. 

 15 

MR WOODFORD:   That is right, and when it was subdivided with some 

down to 1,500, it was possible of course for the subdividers to take 

explicit account of the topography, which is not obvious from looking 

down from above. 

 20 

MR WILLIS:   Yes.  No, that is great.  Thank you very much. 

 

MR WOODFORD:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you very much, Mr Woodford.  Now, Ms 25 

Hargreaves, you have been patiently waiting and now it is your chance 

again.  So no need for introductions, because you have made those 

before, and just in terms of the time, have you got an estimate of how 

long you might take? 

 30 

<KEITH WOODFORD WITHDREW [12.38 pm] 
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<PENNY HARGREAVES AND BARRY ROBERTSON [12.38 pm] 
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MS HARGREAVES:   I do not know, sir.  It depends how many questions you 

have got to make, I suppose. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well, we sort of allocated on the basis of about 10 

minutes each, but I think you have probably through to 1.00 pm 5 

anyway. 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   Okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 10 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   Thank you very much for you and the Panel for your 

patience.  As you know, I am Penny Hargreaves.  I have a 64-acre farm 

on Lower Styx Road, which has about 500 metres of Styx River 

frontage across my northwest side.   15 

 

 My property is located between Pauline McGuigan and Spencerville.  I 

have had not actually had specific flooding problems from the river at 

all.  My flooding has come from where the ground has actually sunk 

and I cannot see a solution to that at the moment.  But that is not 20 

actually really what this issue is about. 

 

 Why I have actually been asked to put together almost a sort of overall 

picture of everything that is actually happening from Brooklands up to 

Belfast and – including the Kaputone and the Styx, is because I used to 25 

be president of the area association.  So I know a lot of people and for 

many years they have been – tell me – they have been contacting the 

Council and trying to get things down. 

 

 I used to use my farm for racehorse training.  I then contracted 30 

problems with my lymphodema and I now have bowel cancer, which 

means that I no longer use the farm with the racehorses, except in 

certain areas.  It is now mainly for vegetable growing which is rented 

out to Michael Case. 

 35 

  [12.40 pm] 

 

 When I first went to my farm in 1992 the river was very solid based, it 

had shingle on the base of the river and we used to ride the horses in 

the river, just wade them after they had worked in the river.  Now the 40 

silt is so high, the silt before the earthquakes was probably a metre.  It 

has probably gone up even in some cases a couple more feet – this is 

what the surveyors on the Council who are working on the river told 

me the other day.  They said the silt levels are probably higher than the 

water levels, which is pretty scary. 45 
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 Now, the real issue that we have actually got with the Styx River is not 

the same as the Heathcote and the Avon because we have actually got 

flood gates.  The only way for me to actually demonstrate what the 

situation is was to try and put together – I do not know if you want to 

have a look, because I think it would explain to you what is actually the 5 

real issue here is that when the gates are closed the water has nowhere 

to go except back up the river. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Laing first, please. 

 10 

MS HARGREAVES:   So when were at the Belfast meeting, Mr Strong who – 

if you turn it around to the left – so you can actually see the Brooklands 

Lagoon there, you see the Styx coming down.  My property is up there 

on the loop of the river where – yes, that is correct.  The river, as the 

engineer’s informed us, is actually ruled by the levels of the Waimak 15 

and the levels of the tide.  So the floodgates are a very big issue in this 

particular scenario. 

 

 When the Waimak River increases flow, Marina lives near a spring, 

Marina Wylaars and she probably could have explained better than I 20 

can is that the springs increase in volume.  When the Waimak increases 

in flow and the tides are high the gates are shut for a longer length of 

time.  At the moment they are shut for two hours each side of high tide 

which is a total of eight hours a day.   

 25 

 When we have high tides which Les Griffiths was going to explain 

because he lives down at Brooklands and he studied it quite carefully, 

we have gone from 2.2 metre tides to 2.7 metre at some times and the 

gates are shut sometimes for a total of 16 hours so that is obviously not 

16 hours all at once.  The people in the early days used to make sure 30 

that the river from Marshlands down to Brooklands was very clean and 

had a quick flow so that when the gates were opened the water could 

evacuate very quickly.  

 

 The earthquakes have altered this situation which is actually explained 35 

in that large bundle of documents I have given there that the Council 

actually acknowledges that the earthquake has narrowed the river in 

some places and has raised the floor level in other places which makes 

it much more difficult for the water to actually exit. 

 40 

 They are aware of these problems, they have not rectified the problems 

and we are actually getting increasing subdivisions coming up river and 

what we are actually looking at is the situation at the moment fails to 

comply with what was previously 5.15 but is now, I can see it is 8.134, 

Stormwater Disposal. 45 
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 For starters, Preston’s have been pumping muddy sediment into river 

which we can go through the pictures we have put here which may be 

easier for you to actually understand what is going on and the river has 

actually reached capacity, as you could see by what Kathryn Snook 

actually gave to you is that she is down by Earlham and several times 5 

in 2013 this was actually after the ECan stormwater discharge consent 

was placed they were flooded several times down there and that was a 

one in eight rain event, not the one in 50 rain event that ECan had made 

their decision on.  So what is going to happen when we have a one in 

50 year event, I think we will all be out to sea. 10 

 

  [12.45 pm] 

 

 The flooding continued in 2014 which is also in attached photographs 

there and it does not comply because basically the increasing 15 

stormwater – we did not have this flood problem prior to the increasing 

subdivisions coming down.  I think the levels of sediment started to 

increase in 1998 and the flow of water has increased consistently, Barry 

will show you the NIWA river levels which actually show it is 

continued to increase in correspondence with increasing stormwater 20 

flow and at the moment all these permits they are giving do not actually 

comply with the stormwater bylaw 2014 because the river obviously 

has reached capacity.   

 

 The photographs that we have got which you have seen evidence from 25 

Kathryn Snook down the lower part of Spencerville, you have seen the 

evidence from Pauline where she is, where the subdivision has been 

raised up so high the water actually is seeping down all around, 

continually coming up.  That was very wetland; every subdivision that 

actually occurs in the Styx catchment, because the water table is so 30 

high risks breaking into aquifers and every aquifer that is actually 

broken into increases the flow of the river to a point where it has got 

nowhere to go except to flood people’s land and the more stormwater 

that comes down from the increasing subdivisions, the further back up 

the river it is actually happening. 35 

 

 You asked before if the engineer’s had said they would do anything 

about it when we had had meetings.  They say they have no plan to deal 

with it and we have consistently said “Well, what can you do to protect 

us?” “We have no plans to do anything.” And the only thing that has 40 

actually happened is without consultation they have actually designated 

people’s properties into flood management and flood ponding. 

 

 They have not looked at alternative which actually was discussed, I see, 

in the ECan discharge consent, perhaps alternatives for the stormwater 45 

disposal.  They have not looked at perhaps making every subdivision 
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have to have its own containers to hold the water which is what 

happens in other places and if that was actually put into the District 

Plan that every building or development had to have enough holding 

containers so that it had a slow release when the rain had stopped or it 

could be contained there to be used for watering gardens.  We say that 5 

we are hearing that Christchurch is going to be short of water so maybe 

that is one of the solutions.  

 

 As you can see, what we have actually got – I do not know exactly 

without reading it right through which I do not think we have got time 10 

to do – is that $30 million was actually allocated for stormwater 

mitigation in 2010.  We have continually asked the Council for their 

budgets to actually tell us what they are spending the money on and all 

we seem to be looking at is the funding, all the money since being 

spent on what they call the Styx “source to the sea” living laboratory.   15 

 

 Well, we think the Styx “source to the sea” living laboratory is a great 

concept but unfortunately they are putting the cart before the horse 

because they have not, as you will see in the pictures that I have got 

attached here, they are not actually dealing with the Styx flooding and 20 

ability to cope with the stormwater before they have done all this 

expensive purchasing of land and all this planting which is all going to 

be flooded away because we have got a huge amount of subdivisions 

upriver which are coming in. 

 25 

 Preston’s, as you saw with Pauline McGuigan’s presentation has not 

even got its rooves and its tar sealing leading water away yet and when 

it comes to the Belfast subdivisions with the big industrial 

developments, it is going to be quite shocking.  Unfortunately, Vivian 

and Ngarita Ditfort could not come today, Ngarita is actually in 30 

hospital, but they have got – what is in here are photographs, I cannot 

remember exactly which one it was, the photographs that actually show 

the flooding up by Ouruhia (ph 4.55) domain.  You can see that the 

bridge there is very small and certainly does not have capacity to cope 

with the water coming down now, even only just a one and eight year 35 

flood, and Pauline and there is so much pollution coming down there 

from the Belfast subdivision that Vivienne says she has to clean out the 

bridge all the time and pull all this rubbish out. 

 

  [12.50 pm] 40 

 

 Well, what is going to happen when it comes to the – as said, we seem 

to be concentrating on the source to sea, one of the problems with the 

developments they are doing, you would also see, is that they are taking 

away the wooden drains and the wooden drains used to actually flush 45 

the water through very quickly and in flushing it through very quickly 
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it also flushes sediment, and when the main river was flushing through 

more quickly the sediment used to wash out. 

 

 The situation with what they are doing now, is they are actually raising 

the sediment, increasing the whole areas around these newly made 5 

drains that they are doing which you can see in the photographs, and 

that actually increases the sediment, raises the whole water level right 

through the south east of Christchurch, raises the water levels to a point 

that, when we do have a one in eight year rainfall the ground is already 

saturated so it has nowhere to go. 10 

 

 So the policies particularly in the lower areas of Christchurch, of all 

this, I mean I think the plantings in some cases are great, but the main 

waterways must be kept clear of foliage.  What we have actually got in 

the stormwater policy, the 2014 stormwater policy, Ian says that, the 15 

Council has the right to force all landowners who own or near 

waterways to remove any obstructing trees or foliage to allow free flow 

of water. 

 

 This rule does not seem to apply to the Council, and I would very much 20 

like to see that put into the District Plan that if there are obstructions, 

which stop the free flow of water, that they should have to remove the 

Council and their own, ownership of what they are doing should have 

to remove this foliage to allow the free flow because their policy is 

basically exacerbating this. 25 

 

 We also got, that since they have done the subdivisions up in 

Northwood, the Council themselves have actually opened up Springs, 

which they are pumping into the Kaputone and into the Styx which is 

the equivalent of the Kaputone as a river itself, so they have literally 30 

made a new river to do this beautification and that again is adding 

millions of gallons more water – Barry will explain it to you, he has got 

the evidence on that. 

 

 So what we are actually looking at with the information that I have 35 

actually tried very hard to put together, and not very successfully, is to 

actually show that the effects from Brooklands right up river, are very 

specific to the Styx, and yet there is nothing in the District Plan to 

actually address the flooding in the Styx, we have got millions has been 

allocated to the Avon and to the Heathcote. 40 

 

 The red zoning of the land and the Avon has limited subdivision, we 

are going to have more – some new subdivisions in the Styx, the Styx 

River is much narrower than the Avon, we have got the floodgates 

which create the problem with the backing up of the water, and there 45 

are alternatives that could be made and this has been actually written 
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which I have placed in here of what the Council’s actually said, they 

can realign the river, almost quite, just above where the Snooks 

actually live so that there is more fall, it will go down into the lagoon 

and flush the sediment through. 

 5 

 The build-up of sediment is actually only going to exasperate the 

problem as well as the fact that we have got all these increasing 

subdivisions happening up river. 

 

 They do not comply with policy 813.4 or 5.25 because, for starters, it is 10 

increasing the sediment and increasing the contaminants, they have 

been pumping muddy water from Preston’s, and the stormwater is 

inundating the land down river, it is not being withheld into the – on a 

much bigger scale than Pauline’s got, we have got an accumulation 

from every single subdivision, we haven’t just got the effects she has 15 

got on a one Prestons subdivision, down river we are getting a one in 

50 year flood or one in eight is what the effect was, what the ECan 

application was, it was a one in 50 year flood – we getting this annually 

when it actually rains. 

 20 

 So when we do get a one in a 50 year rain event, it is terrifying and 

nothings been done to alleviate the situation. 

 

 It says that as ensured it is stormwater is disposed of in a manner which 

is consistent with maintaining public health.  I don’t think living in 25 

houses that are annually flooded is consistent with maintaining public 

health. 

 

  [12.55 pm] 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Hargreaves, just mindful of the time, it is five to one. 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   Right. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Move quickly to the provisions of the Plan that you – is 35 

there any further comment you wanted to make? 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   What I actually wanted to put in, was I have consulted 

with a lawyer and she has actually said that the current situation is it is 

not sustainable management, the increasing stormwater from the 40 

increasing subdivisions must be established in the District Plan to 

ensure there is development and protection of natural physical 

resources in a way and at such rate which enables people in 

communities to provide for their social, economic and cultural 

wellbeing and for health and safety. 45 
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 We haven’t got that, and we have no recourse to get it. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, what is the – okay.  So is there any specific provision 

in the Plan that you wanted changed? 

 5 

MS HARGREAVES:   We would like to have the District Plan given teeth that 

we can actually live in a safe environment, this does not exist at the 

moment, it is like banging our heads against a brick wall, trying to keep 

the water from coming in. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Now if there is anything further, I will just ask 

the Panel, Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   No questions, sir. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   No, thank you for your exhibits. 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   I am sorry, it is not very well - - -  20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Oh, well actually they are not exhibits - - -  

 

MS HARGREAVES:   - - - presented, it is quite a big area to cover. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Not exhibits, so - - -  

 

MR NEILL:   Thank you for the additional information. 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   Thank you. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, no questions, thank you, Ms Hargreaves. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, thank you.  Yes, thank very much, and thank you 

for playing the role that you have including in terms of assisting the 

community that you work in, in this area.  I mean there is obviously 

been a number of people that have come in a similar catchment that 

have raise similar concerns. 40 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   Well I am not actually directly flooded like these 

people down river are and up river, the ones up river as well.  But the 

fear, the – there is no way it is not going to increase in intensity and the 

only we can have it all – the District Plan and as the District Plan didn’t 45 

actually address the Styx at all, it is like we didn’t exist.  It is hard to 
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say what we want you to do because they haven’t actually put in it and 

what we want is compliance with this 8.1 or 5.25, and at the moment 

there is no way we can get anything done. 

 

 Barry’s got some more information of this. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now we have heard already your submission, Mr 

Robertson, thank you. 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Yes, this is evidence on - - -  10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, it is not evidence.  You are not giving evidence. 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Okay.  Put forward how the Council are not complying 

with their own regulations and can we put some enforcement in the 15 

District Plan to make them comply? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well it is now almost 1 o'clock, are you saying something 

around Ms Hargreaves’ submission and - - -  

 20 

MS HARGREAVES:   This is some extra. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So you have spoken to us on 2566. 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   This is a different submission number. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And this is 2591, so just pause a minute. 

 

 All right, so – all right. 

 30 

MR ROBERTSON:   Yes, I want to present the NIWA graph to prove that the 

river flow has been going up gradually since the - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What NIWA graph? 

 35 

MR ROBERTSON:   The NIWA graphs. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Where are they? 

 

MR BALL:   Excuse me, sir, they are in the folder with the Penny Hargreaves 40 

material. 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   Oh is it? 

 

MR……….:   At the front – right at the front. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, just a matter about the status of this material, I am 

not letting it in as an exhibit or evidence because it is not – it is only 

appropriate for that to come through the proper channels. 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   You mean the information I put into - - -  5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry, Ms Hargreaves, you - - -  

 

MS HARGREAVES:   The information I put in. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Hargreaves, could you be quiet. 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   Sorry. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I am addressing Mr Robertson. 15 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So, Mr Robertson, you want to comment on these graphs, 

but just bear in mind that we are not accepting them in as evidence. 20 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Okay, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will have them on file but they will not be regarded as 

evidence. 25 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Yes, which on those graphs it shows how the river flow 

has been going up since the subdivision progressively going up and 

with the photographs I have got there as well with the radio tower. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   There are three or four photographs - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, the photo of the radio tower? 35 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   - - - showing that the progressive increase through the 

years of the water flooding. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 40 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   And the flooding, you know that is supposed to be a Civil 

Defence utility and it was taken off the air because of the flooding. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So are you referring to which photo? 45 
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MR ROBERTSON:   Of the radio tower next to - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I am just trying to find it, I got a very large bundle of 

stapled materials - - -  

 5 

MR ROBERTSON:   Sorry. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - in front of me and it is a bit of a challenge to find it in 

time.  So - - -  

 10 

MS HARGREAVES:   Under Barry Robertson’s presentation. 

 

  [1.00 pm] 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   It should be under Barry Robertson’s presentation. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so perhaps, I mean it might be just as easy to tell 

us about it. 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Yes. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We can look at the photo in due course perhaps, unless 

there is something in it that you want us to see, in which case you are 

going to have to help us find it. 

 25 

MR ROBERTSON:   It is under the presentations. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.   

 

MR ROBERTSON:   I think they might be quite adversely affected.   30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So bearing in mind what I said to you before when you 

presented about the scope of what we can address and what we can’t 

address. 

 35 

MR ROBERTSON:   Can you address the scope where something is put into 

the plan, because we have been left out of the plan, and the Council 

don’t seem to be enforcing their own regulations, can we put something 

into the plan to make them enforce their own regulations because I 

think some of the statements I have put in there show that they are not 40 

actually complying with their own regulations and we want some sort 

of teeth in there to make them comply and to make them be on the 

same footing as what we are.  That is all we want.   
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 Seeing we have actually been left out of the plan, there is no plan for 

the Styx River so because there’s no plan we have no contributions for 

the increased flow and nothing is going to get done. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So you are referring to the Council’s role in river 5 

management, in terms of Styx River and you think that they should be 

taking action in regard to that, as I understand it? 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   They should be, but they are not, and what happens, you 

are the last avenue, our last avenue that we need something to make to 10 

force them in the plan, to enforce them to do that, because they have 

their regulations there but they are just not obeying them, they are 

turning their head on them, and there must be someway where we can 

change the plan to make them be forced to use their own regulations. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so any other points? 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Just the failure of the retention ponds and the 

photographs under my same thing, you will see the Preston’s 

subdivision again. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, no, we have heard about that. 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Yes, so you have gone through that, and also further 

down it should show the Northwood subdivision where they have 25 

created another river, you will see the photographs are quite drastic. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Each of those show that instead of helping the situation, 30 

they are actually contributing to make it worse, all their retention ponds 

are not actually helping the situation, they are making it worse, we 

want something in the district plan, because of this specific area, which 

should have been addressed but hasn’t, because of the amount of 

natural springs in the area and also the flood gates working like a plug 35 

in a bottle, this should have been addressed somewhere in the plan 

because it’s not like the rest of Christchurch because of the springs, you 

can’t just dig a retention pond because as soon as you do, up comes the 

water and you a have got another river. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is now past one o’clock, Mr Robertson.  We are due to 

finish this session, please make any remaining points and I will see if 

there is any questions.  I will give you two more minutes. 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Yes.  This is also partly to do with lateral speed after the 45 

earthquakes, the river capacity has gone down, nothing has been done.   
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 The river, because it is like a funnel with a cork in a bottle, unlike the 

Avon and Heathcote, you can’t treat this the same because the water 

funnels down there to the Brooklands, Spencerville and just backs up, 

because when the flood gates are shut for so long the water has 5 

nowhere to go and it just starts backing up and up and up the river. 

 

 And the Council themselves have acknowledged the flooding 

problems, but the other thing I would like to point out, which you said I 

was allowed to address in this, is the Cranford Basin being put into 10 

that.  They know there is a flooding problem but they’re looking at 

diverting the river water from the Cranford Basin that flows into the 

Avon into the Styx, knowing there is a problem in the Styx River.   

 

 Why are they putting more? Why are we classed as second class 15 

citizens? In the Avon and Heathcote, they stop bank it, to us all they are 

saying is “No, we are going to flood plain it and there is going to be no 

stop banking”, and if you don’t stop bank what happens – they are 

using up the flood plain now, have got it full of water, so when the 

flood comes along there is no flood plain, it is already full, instead of 20 

stop banking having that flood plain siting there for a one in 50 year, 

one in 100 year flood where they can use it, it is full and they are 

putting everyone at risk because of that, because of the continual use of 

the flood plain full of water.  There is no flood plain.  I think that is a 

bad policy. 25 

 

 What else? The modification of consents and alteration of consents, 

this is a problem for us because consents come through, they don’t look 

too bad on the outcome, they change their consents, there’s a lot more 

houses in the Preston’s subdivision, they have started a consent, they 30 

have put a lot more consents on that, and there have been – we are not 

allowed to make anything in to that process because it is not notified, 

we can’t say anything, they could come along there, put a subdivision 

in, double the amount of consents, then you cannot resubmit anything if 

you have not put in an original submission, you have no rights. 35 

 

 I do not think that is right, I think in building – they changed the 

Building Act so if you change your building consent you have to go 

back to the original process, why are the resource consents different?  I 

don’t think that is on a level footing either. 40 

 

  [1.05 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well, we have heard from Ms McGuigan on that 

matter, and we will give some thought to what she has got to say.  All 45 

right? 
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MR ROBERTSON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much, Mr Robertson.  I will just check if 

there was any questions. 5 

 

 No further from me, I have had the bases covered well.  Thank you 

very much for your help. 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Okay. 10 

 

<PENNY HARGREAVES WITHDREW  [1.06 pm] 

<BARRY ROBERTSON WITHDREW [1.06 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Laing, we will just hear from you now on the 15 

suggestions on the timetable for where we go from here. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, your Honour, but just before we get onto that, I did receive 

yesterday a document, it is headed “Styx submitters, 2 November, 

rebuttal of Mr Long’s 30 October rebuttal”, and I think that must have 20 

been Mr Laing, but I would just like to find out which submitter this 

should be ascribed to? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I am not actually sure what it is. 

 25 

MR LAING:   It says Styx Residents Submitters, but – in order that I can 

respond to it properly I think I need to know who it has actually been 

filed on behalf of? 

 

MR ROBERTSON:   Under us. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay, no, fair enough.  I am not going to treat it as 

evidence just on the same basis I am not treating any of the other 

material as evidence, it is simply a representation and, Ms Hargreaves, 

is this on your behalf? 35 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   It is on all of our behalf. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, which submitter, you see we have heard from a 

number of submitters this morning and we need to know which 40 

submitter number it relates to.  And before you answer that question I 

want to make sure that you are going to tell me accurately that you 

have authority to make this on behalf of each of the people that you 

name.  So it is on behalf of yourself, 2526? 

 45 

MS HARGREAVES:   That is right and Linda Dawber - - - 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And Mr Robertson, 2591? 

 

MS HARGREAVES:  And Linda Dawber. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So who is Linda Dawber? 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   I thought she was on the submission? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What is her submission number? 10 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   She is the president of the Ouruhia Association; I don’t 

know what her submission number is. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   She is not down to be heard, so the spelling of that name 15 

for the transcript please? 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   D-A-W-B-E-R. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And you have authority from her to make this submission 20 

on her behalf? 

 

MS HARGREAVES:  Yes, and it was passed around for people to look at, 

because we had very short time - - - 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry, no, stop.  I am not interested in any of that, I just 

want to know which submitters this relates to. 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   Yes, as many as - - - 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, no, stop, Ms Dawber is the last one you mentioned, 

which other submitter? 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   Linda Dawber, I had mentioned the other ones that we 

had, well we were told we had to rebut - - - 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, we need to know the precise number; I want to know 

which submitters on our submitter list this is on behalf of.  You 

mentioned Ms Dawber, yourself and - - - 

 40 

MS HARGREAVES:   The information - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, no, be quiet, and yourself, now that I have made those 

points, which other submitter does it relate to? 

 45 

MR ROBERTSON:   No other by the look of it, I don’t think. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   No other submitter? 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   We did not have time to actually give it to the other 

submitters. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Not interested in that, I just need to know, procedurally, 

which submissions this relates to.  Those three? 

 

MS HARGREAVES:   Yes.   10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  All right, Mr Laing, is that clear? 

 

MR LAING:   Thank you. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thanks very much.   

 

MR LAING:   I was just wanting to sort of briefly address the Panel on 

timetable, I have spoken to Mr Long, he has made good progress with 

changes, it is going to take a few more days.  I am, unfortunately, going 20 

to be out of the office now pretty well until next Monday, I was going 

to suggest 5.00 pm Monday for lodging the revised proposal with all 

the amendments that the Council accepts.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay. 25 

 

MR LAING:   Thereafter, I indulge it to the Panel as to what happens, but I am 

assuming from our discussion yesterday that there would be some 

further process for submitters to make representations about that 

proposal and then we go into a round of closing submissions.   30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I think in the circumstances where there have been 

some matters that have arisen where particular submitter interests have 

come up quite specific to them, for instance we have heard a couple 

today, that perhaps the proper course might be for that document to be 35 

– for a minute to issue following this hearing which allows for 

comments on that document within the scope of the submissions 

originally made. 

 

  [1.10 pm] 40 

 

MR LAING:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Only within the scope of that people can make comments 

on anything that has changed from the last version perhaps. 45 
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MR LAING:   Yes, I think that is the appropriate limitation.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and within scope, and then - - - 

 

MR LAING:   Some directions as to closing. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and then, yes, as you say directions as to closing, 

does the Council have a view as to whether its closing should follow 

closings from the Crown and other parties who formally make closing 

submissions? 10 

 

MR LAING:   If submitters wish to comment upon the revised proposal, then 

my submission is that they should do so and that should be their 

closing.   

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  Then the Council to follow by way of a third stage 

by way of its closing submissions? 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, that is correct, your Honour. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We are not under immediate pressure in issuing a decision 

on this one, so I am inclined to think we should just allow sensible time 

for that.  So if we perhaps allowed another week or so, seven days on 

that, for parties to respond. 

 25 

MR LAING:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And then for the Council’s closing submissions - - - 

 

MR LAING:   Closing after that. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Seven days beyond that? 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, so submitters who wish to close on matters other than the 

changes to proposal would do so, and then the Council would have a 35 

right of reply, feasibly.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So if I say five working days between each of those 

stages. 

 40 

MR LAING:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Okay, well, thank you very much everyone for 

your help in this process, although it sometimes - - -  

 45 

MR LAING:   Sorry, I have just got one final thing, if your Honour, pleases? 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   I have spoken to counsel for Ngai Tahu and the Crown about the 

sort of timing issues with Papakainga housing, and I envisage having a 5 

joint memorandum to be filed on that topic. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.   

 

MR LAING:   A number of options have been canvassed, but I think I am not 10 

speaking out of turn to say that the preferred view would be to delay 

decisions on Stage 2, Chapter 8, Stage 2, until the Natural and Cultural 

hearings have at least taken place. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  And that suggestion would seem to tie in with some 15 

of the aspirations of some other submitters in regard to that. 

 

MR LAING:   For other reasons as well, yes.  Yes, I think that is quite correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Were you envisaging that given that, it might 20 

be for the Panel to issue an indication of timing by way of a minute 

covering everything by way of timetabling and that sort of thing? 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, it clearly much depends on how narrow the Papakainga 

housing mediation discussions go, so at this stage we do not know how 25 

much the gaps are going to be narrowed, but the time in which the 

hearing is over in a few weeks, then there should be a fairly good idea 

as to what is outstanding, how that might impact on Stage 2, Chapter 8. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, that is helpful.  All right, thanks very much, 30 

Mr Laing, and just to say to everyone here, thank you for your 

participation and for assisting us in these processes, and while 

sometimes we need to be robust in order to make sure we keep to 

timeframes and properly enquire into issues, rest assured your 

contributions are noted and are helpful to us.   35 

 

 So as I have indicated to Mr Laing, the processes that will follow from 

here, as of now this hearing is adjourned, and you can anticipate there 

will be a timetabling minute that will issue from the Panel to indicate to 

all parties the steps that are to be taken from here in light of what 40 

Mr Laing has indicated. 

 

 Thanks very much. 

 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 1.14 PM ACCORDINGLY 45 


